NATIONAL BANK OF BELGIUM

WORKING PAPERS - RESEARCH SERIES

Does Financial Liberalization Spur Growth?

Geert Bekaert (*)
Campbell R. Harvey (**)
Christian Lundblad (***)

We appreciate the helpful comments of Wayne Ferson, Peter Henry, Ross Levine, Graciela Kaminsky, Han Kim, Luc Laeven, Michael Pagano, Vicente Pons, Tano Santos, Andrei Shleifer, René Stulz, Jeffrey Wurgler, seminar participants at the University of Chicago, Georgetown University, Ohio State University, University of Michigan, Boston College, Washington University in St. Louis, the World Bank, Princeton University, University of California at Los Angles, Fordham University, ISCTE-Lisbon, University of Porto, Cass Business School-London, the International Monetary Fund, and participants at the American Finance Association Meetings in Atlanta, the Conference on Financial Systems and Crises at the Yale School of Management, the Western Finance Association Meetings in Tuscon, the LARC meetings in Monterrey, Mexico and the European Finance Association Meetings in Barcelona and especially those of an anonymous referee.

The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Bank of Belgium.

Send correspondence to: Campbell R. Harvey, Fuqua School of Business, Duke University, Durham, NC 27708. Phone: + 1 919.660.7768, e-mail: cam.harvey@duke.edu.

^(*) Columbia University, New York, NY 10027 USA. National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA 02138 USA.

^(**) Duke University, Durham, NC 27708 USA. National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA 02138 USA.

^(***) Indiana University, Bloomington, IN 47405 USA

Editorial Director

Jan Smets, Member of the Board of Directors of the National Bank of Belgium

Statement of purpose:

The purpose of these working papers is to promote the circulation of research results (Research Series) and analytical studies (Documents Series) made within the National Bank of Belgium or presented by external economists in seminars, conferences and conventions organised by the Bank. The aim is therefore to provide a platform for discussion. The opinions expressed are strictly those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Bank of Belgium.

The Working Papers are available on the website of the Bank:

http://www.nbb.be

Individual copies are also available on request to:

NATIONAL BANK OF BELGIUM

Documentation Service boulevard de Berlaimont 14 BE - 1000 Brussels

Imprint: Responsibility according to the Belgian law: Jean Hilgers, Member of the Board of Directors, National Bank of Belgium. Copyright © fotostockdirect - goodshoot

gettyimages - digitalvision gettyimages - photodisc

National Bank of Belgium

Reproduction for educational and non-commercial purposes is permitted provided that the source is acknowledged.

ISSN: 1375-680X

Editorial

On May 17-18, 2004 the National Bank of Belgium hosted a Conference on "Efficiency and stability in an evolving financial system". Papers presented at this conference are made available to a broader audience in the NBB Working Paper Series (www.nbb.be).

Abstract

We show that equity market liberalizations, on average, lead to a one percent increase in annual real economic growth over a five-year period. The effect is robust to alternative definitions of liberalization and does not reflect variation in the world business cycle. The effect also remains intact when liberalization is instrumented with quality of institutions-variables that explain liberalization but not growth and when a growth opportunity measure is included in the regression. Capital account liberalization has a less robust effect on growth than equity market liberalization has. Other simultaneous reforms only partially account for the effect. Finally, we examine why some countries respond to equity market liberalization differently from others.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
2. Data and model framework	3
2.1 Equity market liberalizations	3
2.2 Unconditional effects of liberalization	
2.3 Econometric framework	
3. Liberalization and Economic Growth	7
3.1 The liberalization effect in a classic growth regression	
3.2 Robustness	
3.2.1 Alternative measures of liberalization	
3.2.2 Other robustness checks	
J.Z.Z Other robustness oneons	10
4. Endogeneity	
4.1 Growth Opportunities	
4.2 Understanding the liberalization decision	
4.3 Instrumental Variables Estimation	
4.4 Endogeneity and financial development	16
5. Accounting for the Liberalization Effect	16
5.1 Macroeconomic reforms	
5.2 Financial reforms	
5.3 Legal environment	
5.4 Banking crises	
Č	
6. Why do countries respond differently to liberalizations?	
6.1 Intensity of liberalization	
6.2 Financial development	
6.3 Legal and investment environment	26
7. Conclusions	28
8. Bibliography	30
Tables	35
Appendix A	47
Appendix B	48
Appendix C	49

1 Introduction

One of the most fundamental national policy decisions of the past 25 years has been the financial liberalization of equity markets across the world. Equity market liberalizations give foreign investors the opportunity to invest in domestic equity securities and domestic investors the right to transact in foreign equity securities. We find that equity market liberalizations increase subsequent average annual real economic growth by about 1%. One might think that financial liberalizations may be subsumed by other variables that are commonly used in the economic growth literature [see Barro (1997a) and Barro and Sala-i-Martin (1995)]. We find that this is not the case.

From a neoclassical perspective, our results are to be expected. Improved risk sharing post-liberalization should decrease the cost of equity capital (see, for example, Bekaert and Harvey (2000)) and increase investment. When markets are imperfect, equity market liberalization may have strong effects as well. Financing constraints (see e.g. Hubbard (1998) and Gilchrist and Himmelberg (1998)), make external finance more costly than internal finance, and cause investment to be sensitive to cash flows. Equity market liberalization directly reduces financing constraints in the sense that more foreign capital becomes available, and foreign investors may insist on better corporate governance which indirectly reduces the wedge between internal finance and external finance. Hence, the cost of capital may go down because of improved risk sharing or because of the reduction in financing constraints or both. Moreover, better corporate governance and investor protection should promote financial development (La Porta et al. (1997)) and hence growth (King and Levine (1993), for example).

From at least two alternative perspectives, our results may be more surprising. First, alternative theories do not imply positive growth effects after financial liberalization, for example, because of reduced precautionary savings (Devereux and Smith (1994)) or because informational asymmetries prevent foreign capital to be profitably invested (Stiglitz (2000)). Second, a rapidly growing literature on the growth effects of capital account liberalization finds mixed results (see Eichengreen (2002) for a survey).

We conduct a number of empirical exercises that instill confidence in our results. First,

our results survive an extensive number of econometric robustness experiments, including controlling for world business cycle variation. Second, our results are robust to alternative measurements of the liberalization variable. The use of a homogeneous measure of international openness, focusing on equity markets, may explain why our results are so different from the capital account openness literature. We confirm that the standard IMF measure of whether the capital account is free of restrictions (see Rodrik (1998) and Kraay (1998)), does not give rise to a robust growth effect. When capital account restrictions are more finely measured, as in Quinn (1997) and Edwards (2001), there does appear to be a growth effect, although it is more fragile than the equity market liberalization effect we find (see Arteta, Eichengreen and Wyplosz (2003)).

Third, we take seriously the possibility that liberalization may be a strategic decision correlated with growth opportunities. However, growth opportunities do not explain the liberalization decision. Moreover, when we instrument liberalization with variables measuring the quality of local institutions, which explain liberalization but not growth, the liberalization effect remains intact.

Fourth, our growth effect is large and it is unlikely that it can be fully ascribed to equity market liberalization. Most importantly, equity market liberalization may coincide with other reforms that improve the growth prospects of the country. We closely investigate several possibilities such as macro reforms, financial reforms, legal reforms (including reforms regarding insider trading) and the coincidence of equity market liberalizations with post-banking crisis reforms.

Fifth, it is unlikely that the liberalization effect is the same in all liberalizing countries. We relate the heterogeneity of the growth effect to the comprehensiveness of reforms, the legal environment, investment conditions, and the degree of financial development.

The paper is organized as follows. The second section describes our data, the summary statistics and the econometric framework. The third part of the paper examines the role of equity market liberalization as a determinant of economic growth. The fourth section investigates the endogeneity issue. The fifth section explores whether the equity market liberalization effect can be accounted for by macroeconomic and other regulatory reforms.

The sixth section sheds light on why the growth response to financial liberalization differs across countries. Some concluding remarks are offered in the final section.

2 Data and model framework

2.1 Equity market liberalizations

Our tests involve regressions of real per capita GDP growth on an equity market liberalization indicator. These regressions have both time-series and cross-sectional dimensions. Table 1 contains the descriptions and sources of all the variables used in the paper.

Perhaps the most important variable in our paper is the indicator variable, Official Equity Market Liberalization. This variable is based on Bekaert and Harvey's (2002) detailed chronology of important financial, economic and political events in many developing countries. The variable takes the value of one when it is possible for foreign portfolio investors to own the equity of a particular market and zero otherwise. We augmented this analysis with liberalization dates for five developed countries: Japan, Iceland, Malta, New Zealand and Spain (see Appendix A).

Our analysis of robustness of the liberalization effect considers two alternative measures of financial liberalization. The first measure, First Sign, is based on the earliest of three possibilities: a launching of a country fund, an American Depositary Receipt (ADR) announcement and an Official Liberalization. It might be possible for a foreign investor to access the market through a country fund well before foreigners are allowed to directly transact in the local equity market. For example, consider the case of Thailand. Bekaert and Harvey (2002) date the Official Liberalization in September 1987. This was the first month of operation of the Thai Alien Board which allowed foreigners to directly transact in Thai securities. However, foreigners could indirectly access the Thai market earlier. In July 1985, the Bangkok Fund Ltd. was launched on the London Stock Exchange and in December 1986, Morgan Stanley launched the Thailand Fund. Thailand announced its first ADR in January 1991. So, for our analysis, the Official Liberalization is dated in 1987 whereas the First Sign date is 1985.

We also consider a measure of capital account liberalization based on IMF information. The dates for the Official Liberalization, first country fund, and first ADR announcement are presented in Appendix A. All other data are discussed when they are introduced in the analysis.

Our regression analysis uses four different country samples which are determined by data availability. Economic growth rates, the basic control variables and the Official Liberalization indicator are available for all samples. Samples I and II, our largest, include 95 and 75 countries, respectively, and employ primarily macroeconomic and demographic data. Samples III and IV, on the other hand, include 50 and 28 countries, respectively, and employ, in addition to the macroeconomic and demographic information, data describing the state of banking and equity market development in each country.

2.2 Unconditional effects of liberalization

Table 2 presents some summary analysis of some of the main variables in our analysis. We analyze the data from two perspectives. In the first two columns, we consider means of the variables five-years before and after equity market liberalizations. However, for real GDP growth, we also examine three and seven-year intervals. In the third and four columns, we look at the difference in means between countries that are fully liberalized and countries that were never liberalized (segmented countries).

Using a sample of liberalizing countries, we find that the real annual GDP growth rate is more than 1% higher in the post-liberalization period for all intervals. There is a much sharper difference in growth between fully liberalized countries and those that did not experience a liberalization, of approximately 2.2%.

The next group of variables will serve as control variables in the growth regressions, as determinants of steady-state GDP. The control variables experience changes after liberalization that would indicate a higher steady state GDP with the most striking differences for the fully liberalized and segmented countries. In each case, there are highly significant differences. The never liberalized countries have: lower secondary school enrollment, lower life expectancy, and higher population growth. The size of the government sector is smaller

in the segmented sample.

The last panels of the table consider variables that appear in later sections and we will discuss them then. Importantly, the differences in means reported in Table 2 only summarize the data. In order to assess whether growth increases after equity market liberalizations, it is necessary to conduct a multivariate regression analysis.

2.3 Econometric framework

Define the logarithmic growth in real GDP per capita for country i between t and t + k as follows:

$$y_{i,t+k,k} = \frac{1}{k} \sum_{j=1}^{k} y_{i,t+j} \ i = 1, \dots, N$$
 (1)

where $y_{i,t} = \ln(\frac{\text{GDP}_{i,t}}{\text{POP}_{i,t}}/\frac{\text{GDP}_{i,t-1}}{\text{POP}_{i,t-1}})$ and N is the number of countries in our sample. Let the initial level of log GDP per capita be denoted as Q_{it} and the country's long-run (steady state) per capita GDP as Q_i^* . Taking a first-order approximation to the neoclassical growth model [see e.g. Mankiw (1995)], we can derive: $y_{i,t+k,k} = -\lambda[Q_{it} - Q_i^*]$, where λ is a positive convergence parameter. The literature often implicitly models Q_i^* as a linear function of a number of structural variables such as the initial level of human capital. Hence a prototypical growth regression can be specified as

$$y_{i,t+k,k} = -\lambda Q_{i,t} + \gamma' \mathbf{X}_{it} + \epsilon_{i,t+k,k}, \tag{2}$$

where \mathbf{X}_{it} are the variables controlling for different levels of long-run per capita GDP across countries. Our main addition to the literature is to examine the effect of adding an equity market liberalization variable, Lib_{i,t}, to the growth regression:

$$y_{i,t+k,t} = \beta Q_{i,1980} + \gamma' \mathbf{X}_{i,t} + \alpha \operatorname{Lib}_{i,t} + \epsilon_{i,t+k,k}$$
(3)

where $Q_{i,1980}$ represents the logarithm of per capita real GDP in 1980 and serves as an initial GDP proxy. Because it is critical to capture the temporal dimension of the liberalization process, we combine time-series with cross-sectional information.

We identify the parameters using a GMM estimator described and analyzed in Bekaert, Harvey and Lundblad (2001). The estimator maximizes the time-series content in our regression by making use of overlapping data. We adjust the standard errors for the resulting moving average component in the residuals using a cross-sectional extension to Hansen and Hodrick (1980). Note that our regressors are all pre-determined. This estimator looks like an instrumental variable estimator but it reduces to pooled OLS under simplifying assumptions on the weighting matrix.

Our econometric framework raises four issues: the construction of the weighting matrix, the choice of k, the specification of the control variables and the construction of the liberalization indicator.

First, growth regressions have been criticized for being contaminated by multicollinearity [see Mankiw (1995)]. In a pure cross-sectional regression, the regressors may be highly correlated (highly developed countries score well on all proxies for long-run growth), the data may be measured with error, and every country's observation is implicitly viewed as an independent draw. It is therefore likely that standard errors underestimate the true sampling error. In our panel methods, we can accommodate heteroskedasticity both across countries and across time and correlation between country residuals by choosing the appropriate weighting matrix. In the tables, we report results using the method that accommodates overlapping observations, and groupwise heteroskedasticity but does not allow for temporal heteroskedasticity nor SUR effects. Results available from the authors demonstrate that the main results remain largely robust to accommodating these other effects.

Second, since our sample is relatively short, starting only in 1980 and many liberalizations only occurred in the 1990s we use k = 5, instead of k = 10 which is typical in the literature. However, Islam (1995) and Caselli, Esquivel and Lefort (1996) find very similar results using k = 5 versus k = 10 and we check the robustness to the alternative k's and the introduction of variables controlling for the world business cycle.

Third, Levine and Renelt (1992) find that most of the independent variables in standard growth regressions are in a particular sense "fragile." We are primarily interested in the robustness of any effect the liberalization dummy may have on growth. We minimize the

data mining biases for the other regressors by closely mimicking the regression in Barro (1997b). In addition, given the documented fragility of some of these variables, our initial analysis adds the control variables one by one to the growth regression.

Fourth, perhaps the main methodological issue regarding our sample is the construction of the equity market liberalization indicator variable. Although timing capital market reforms is prone to errors, the use of annual data reduces the impact of small timing errors. Nevertheless, we conduct several robustness experiments with respect to the definition of the liberalization variable.

3 Liberalization and Economic Growth

3.1 The liberalization effect in a classic growth regression

Table 3 describes the results of a standard growth regression for our largest sample which includes a constant, initial GDP (1980), government consumption to GDP, secondary school enrollment, population growth, and life expectancy as explanatory variables. We present results for k = 5, and add the variables one by one and eventually all together. When initial GDP is the only regressor, it comes in with a strongly significant positive coefficient. When paired with the other control variables, which can now proxy for the steady state level of GDP, it mostly comes in with a negative sign, as expected given the standard results on conditional convergence. The control variables have the expected sign and all are strongly significant.

The results for the full regression are broadly consistent with the previous literature (see Barro (1997a,b) and Barro and Sala-i-Martin (1995)). Initial GDP enters with a very significant negative coefficient suggesting that low initial GDP levels imply higher growth rates - conditional on the other variables. The secondary school enrollment and government size variables become insignificant but have the correct sign. Life expectancy has a significant positive coefficient suggesting that long life expectancy is associated with higher economic growth. Population growth has a significantly negative coefficient in the regression.

Most importantly, the liberalization coefficient is positive and significant in all the re-

gressions and four to six standard errors from zero. For example, in the full regression, the liberalization coefficient is 0.0097 and five standard errors from zero. This suggests that, on average, a liberalization is associated with a 0.97% increase in the real per capita growth rate in GDP. The effect ranges from 0.92% to 1.29%. We also estimated the regression using three non-overlapping five-year intervals. There are three different samples with three timeseries observations without overlap; we run three regressions separately, and then average the resulting coefficients. The average growth effect for the non-overlapping estimation is 1.03%.

Mankiw (1995) argues that omitted variable bias is a fundamental problem affecting almost all cross-country empirical work on growth. In our context, countries that adopt policies that tend to enhance growth are likely to have good fundamentals along many dimensions (for example, regarding human capital and health care). Because it is impossible to control for all aspects of these policies, allowing an equity market liberalization variable simply captures part or most of this omitted variable effect. Therefore, we also consider a fixed effects regression reported in Table 3, where we introduce a country-specific dummy. The liberalization effect decreases to 0.56% but it remains highly statistically significantly different from zero. Interestingly, for the other samples we investigate, the fixed effect estimation leads to a smaller change in the liberalization coefficient. For example, in sample IV the coefficient shrinks from 1.08% to 1.03%.

3.2 Robustness

3.2.1 Alternative measures of liberalization

We consider two measurement issues regarding our liberalization variable: an alternative timing and its relation to capital account openness. Because the coefficients on the control variables are robust across the different specifications, we only present the alternative liberalization effects in Table 4. We now also report results for four different sub-samples, which represent a robustness exercise in its own right. The official liberalization effect, as shown in panel A, is somewhat smaller for samples II and III, but it exceeds 1% for the more homogeneous sample IV. As an interesting aside, we find stronger evidence of conditional

convergence the more homogeneous the sample is, which is consistent with the neo-classical growth model [see Barro and Sala-i-Martin (1995)]. Table 4, panel A, also suggests that the coefficient on the liberalization indicator is robust to using the First Sign dates.

The second part of Table 4, panel A, explores the role of capital account liberalization which is the topic of a large debate. Rodrik (1998), Edison et al. (2002) claim that there is no correlation between capital account liberalization and growth prospects. In contrast, Edwards (2001) finds a positive effect that is driven by the high income countries in his sample. Arteta, Eichengreen and Wyplosz (2003) conduct robustness experiments using different measures of openness and conclude that the relation between growth and capital account liberalization is fragile.

Our measure of capital account openness (see also Grilli and Milesi-Ferretti (1995)) is from the IMF's Annual Report on Exchange Arrangements and Exchange Restrictions (AREAER). This publication reports several categories of information, mostly on current account restrictions. The dummy variable takes on a value of zero if the country has at least one restriction in the "restrictions on payments for the capital account transactions" category. We first look at the capital account liberalization separately. Consistent with Arteta, Eichengreen and Wyplosz (2003), we find that the capital account liberalization relation with growth is somewhat fragile. The coefficient on this indicator is small and insignificantly different from zero in samples I and II. The coefficient with Edwards (2001), the capital account measure does best in our smaller samples which are more heavily weighted towards high income countries.

Importantly, the equity market liberalization variable is robust to the inclusion of the capital account liberalization variable. In the largest sample, the equity market liberalization effect is 0.94% per year over a five year period and it is smallest, 0.71% per year, in sample III. The t-statistic ranges from 2.1 (sample IV) to 4.6 (sample I). The capital accoun-

 $^{^{1}}$ The IMF changed the reporting procedures in 1996 and included subcategories for capital account restrictions (see the discussion in Miniane (2000)), but we follow the bulk of the literature in using the 0/1 variable.

t liberalization dummy has no longer any significant effect on growth in samples I, II and IV. While the coefficient on the capital account liberalization indictor remains significant in sample III, the coefficient is diminished when the equity market liberalization variable is in the regression. The growth effect of equity market liberalizations dominates that of capital account openness.

In a comprehensive survey of the literature on capital account liberalization, Eichengreen (2002) laments the lack of robust empirical results and calls for research to distinguish different types of controls. After all, the IMF measure is an aggregate measure of many different types of capital restrictions (including, for example, foreign exchange restrictions) and any type of restriction leads to a "restricted" label. Miniane (2000) proposes averaging the 13 subcategories in the AREAER as a measure of capital control intensity to get a broader measure of restrictions. Quinn (1997) scores the intensity of the enforcement of the controls. Quinn's results are more in favor of a growth effect, but the results in Quinn, Inclan and Toyoda (2001) and Edwards (2001) suggests that some economic development is necessary to reap the benefits of capital account liberalization. Of course, by only focusing on equity flows, we respond to Eichengreen's appeal and find strong, robust results.

3.2.2 Other robustness checks

We conduct seven additional robustness checks. First, we compare Latin-American liberalizations to non-Latin American liberalizations. The results in panel B of Table 4 suggest that this region is not driving the growth effect. Second, we control for variation in the world business cycle and interest rates. Panel C of Table 4 shows that OECD economic growth exerts a strong positive influence in our growth regression but the liberalization effect is not diminished by the inclusion of the business cycle variables. Indeed, in each of our samples, the growth effect from liberalization increases once we add these variables. Third, we included time-dummy variables in the main regression. These variables had no discernable impact on the liberalization coefficients. Fourth, we estimated the regressions with three alternative growth horizons: three, seven and ten years. While the liberalization effect is present at all horizons, this analysis suggests that most of the impact occurs in the first five years

after liberalization which is consistent with the convergence literature.² Fifth, we tested the sensitivity of our results to setting initial GDP at 1980 levels. As alternatives, we reset GDP to 1990 levels and also considered using the initial GDP at the time when a country liberalizes. Again, the inference did not change. Sixth, we altered our assumptions about the weighting matrix. In particular, we considered an estimation with restricted SUR effects and an estimation that imposed homoskedasticity with no SUR effects. The liberalization result is resilient to such changes.

Finally, we conducted a Monte Carlo analysis of the liberalization effect. For each replication, we draw 95 uniform random numbers and randomly assign one of the existing liberalization dummies to each country. We re-run the growth regression with the same control variables but with purely random liberalization events. We repeat this experiment 1000 times. The 97.5th percentile of the distribution shows a coefficient of 0.0057 and a t-statistic of 3.25 as reported in the appendix. This is well below our estimated coefficient of 0.0097 and t-statistic of 7.00 reported in Table 3. Hence, the empirical p-value is less than 0.001. The Monte Carlo evidence shows that the impact of the liberalization indicator is not a statistical artifact and not simply associated with the clustering of liberalizations in the late 1980s and early 1990s. It also shows that a standard t-test may slightly over-reject at asymptotic critical values, which we will take into account in our inference.

4 Endogeneity

As with the effect of financial development on growth, endogeneity issues loom large. Is the liberalization decision an exogenous political decision, or do countries liberalize when they expect improved growth opportunities? These concerns are highly relevant for countries that joined a free market area like Spain and Portugal in the European Union, where membership simultaneously requires relaxing capital controls and favorable growth conditions. However, such liberalizations are rare in our sample.

Nevertheless, we formally tackle the endogeneity issues using a two-pronged approach.

²The seven-year horizon regressions suggest that 88% of the growth impact of a liberalization takes place in the first five years.

First, we try to directly control for growth opportunities. Second, we try to find suitable instruments for the liberalization decision by examining its determinants in a probit analysis. Absent a direct measure of growth opportunities, a proper instrument should explain liberalizations but should not explain growth. We end the section reflecting on some other subtle endogeneity concerns related to financial development.

4.1 Growth Opportunities

If we could directly control for growth opportunities, the endogeneity concerns would be greatly mitigated. However, this is a formidable task. Any local variable that is correlated with growth opportunities may indicate an increase in growth opportunities because of the planned equity liberalization. Hence, including the growth opportunity variable into the regression is not very informative. Our approach is to look for "exogenous" growth opportunities. More specifically, we view each country as composed of a set of industries with time-varying growth opportunities and assume that these growth prospects are reflected in the price to earnings ratios of global industry portfolios. We then create an implied measure of country-specific growth opportunities that reflects the growth prospects for each industry (at the global level) weighted by the industrial composition for each country. We construct an annual measure of the 3-digit SIC industry composition for each country by their output shares according to the UNIDO Industrial Statistics Database. For each SIC code, we also measure price-earnings (PE) ratios for that industry at the global level, from which we construct an implied measure of growth opportunities for each country by weighting each global industry PE ratio by its relative share for that country. We divide this measure by the overall world market PE ratio to remove the world discount rate effect and we also measure this variable relative to its past five-year moving average. We call the difference "growth opportunities" (GO).

$$GO_{i,t} = \ln \left[\frac{IPE_t \times w'_{i,t}}{WDPE_t} \right] - \frac{1}{60} \sum_{s=t-60}^{t-1} \ln \left[\frac{IPE_s \times w'_{i,s}}{WDPE_s} \right]$$
(4)

where IPE_t is a vector of global industry price-earning ratios,³ $w_{i,t}$ is a vector of country-specific industry weights, and $WDPE_t$ is the price-earning ratio of the world market.⁴

When we introduce this variable into a growth regression, panel A of Table 5 shows that it predicts growth but does not drive out the liberalization effect. The fact that the GO measure is significant in the regressions indicates that it is indeed a good measure of growth opportunities. Comparing the growth effect of liberalization in this regression with the original effect (repeated in panel D), we see that it is essentially unchanged.

4.2 Understanding the liberalization decision

The most probable reason why growth opportunities do not drive out the liberalization effect is because liberalizations are not driven by growth opportunities but by other factors. We can verify this directly using a probit analysis of the liberalization decision. To measure growth opportunities, we use the GO measure and GDP growth averaged over five years preceding the liberalization date as independent variables. Another potential determinant of liberalization is the level of economic development, which we proxy by the same control variables as the ones used in the basic growth regression. It is also conceivable that financial liberalization is the natural outgrowth of a financial development process, and consequently we include a banking development measure (private credit to GDP) as an independent variable. Finally, it is likely that political factors, such as political stability, the existence of a democratic government, etc., play an important role in the liberalization process [see Perotti and van Oijen (2001), Quinn, Inclan and Toyoda (2001) and Quinn (2001)].⁵ If this is true and the level of political maturity is uncorrelated with growth opportunities, a measure of political maturity might serve as an instrument for liberalization. As a start, we use ICRGs political risk rating to proxy for the level of political maturity.

In Table 5, panel B, we present evidence for the probit estimation where the left hand side is a 0/1 variable for which countries that liberalize receive a 1 and segmented countries receive a 0. We exclude the fully liberalized countries - this helps us predict the probability

³All price-earnings ratios are taken from Datastream. We use the December value for our annual measures.

⁴The Datastream world market is the value weighted sum of the global industry portfolios.

⁵We thank Luc Laeven for suggesting this train of thought.

of the liberalization decision. We have 68 countries that either liberalize after 1980 or do not liberalize at all. For countries that liberalize, the right-hand-side predictive variables are averaged over the 5-years preceding liberalization; for those countries that do not liberalize, the right-hand-side predictive variables are averaged over the 5-years preceding the liberalization date of their closest geographic neighbor.

Of the standard growth control variables, initial GDP comes in with a surprising negative sign and human capital with a strongly significant positive sign. Some of the various control variables proxying for economic development are highly correlated with one another. For example, the correlation between life expectancy and secondary school enrollment is 0.76. Past GDP growth is not associated with the liberalization decision whereas growth opportunities are negatively correlated with liberalization. The financial development variable comes in borderline significantly but the political risk rating is strongly significant. Apart from human capital, political risk is the strongest predictor of liberalization. Whereas this measure does not directly reflect the current economic fundamentals, the work of Barro (1997b), among others, has demonstrated negative growth effects of political unrest. This undermines the use of the broad political risk rating as an instrument for liberalization.

To further examine this issue, we collected time-series information on the 12 sub-components of the ICRG Political Index. We construct four subindices: POL1 (Political) which includes (a) Military in Politics and (b) Democratic Accountability; POL2 (Quality of Institutions) which includes (a) Corruption, (b) Law and Order and (c) Bureaucratic quality; POL3 (Socioeconomic Environment) which includes (a) Government Stability, (b) Socioeconomic Conditions and (c) Investment Profile; and POL4 (Conflict) which includes (a) Internal Conflict, (b) External Conflict, (c) Religious Tensions and (d) Ethnic Tensions. These four groups roughly maximize the within group cross-sectional correlation between the variables and minimize the outside the group correlation.

We then repeated the probit analysis replacing the political risk rating by one of its components. As the results in Panel B reveal, the POL2 – variables, associated with the quality

⁶We also performed the analysis using changes in the independent variables as regressors but found no significant predictors of liberalizations.

of institutions, are by far the most important determinant of the liberalization decision, driving the overall variable's significance.

Using probit analysis, we find that, among those countries that either elect to liberalize in our sample or not (excluding the fully liberalized set), a higher level of institutional quality is associated with an increased probability of an equity market liberalization. To evaluate the ability of this variable to serve as an adequate instrument for liberalization in our growth regressions, we next consider the relationship between the "Quality of Institutions" and future GDP growth. To be clear, the "Quality of Institutions" variable may be associated with growth for the broader set of integrated countries because of the positive association between liberalization and future growth. Hence, for this particular instrument, we are interested in the growth effect for segmented countries only.

In Table 5, panel C, we conduct standard growth regressions to explore the growth effect of these political rating subgroups only for the 27 segmented countries in our sample. We enter the four political subgroup indices and the overall ICRG political risk measure separately as independent variables in a growth regression either with fixed effects without additional controls or a constant with all the usual growth controls employed in Table 3. We find that, stripped of the liberalization channel, the "Quality of Institutions" variable has no significant association with future growth. In contrast, the Conflict subgroup is a significant predictor of growth for these countries and subsumes all of the political risk rating's predictive power for growth. It is likely that this variable is highly correlated with the political unrest variable used in Barro's (1997b) growth regression.

4.3 Instrumental Variables Estimation

Finally, in panel D, we report estimates from a standard growth regression for samples II, III, and IV for which the ICRG political risk variables are available. We include in the regressions, but do not report, the same control variables as presented in Table 3. In this estimation, however, we employ an instrumental variables approach within our GMM framework, where we use all the regressors as their own instruments, but instrument the liberalization indicator with the "Quality of Institutions" variable. Interestingly, the estimated liberalization effect

remains positive and highly significant. The magnitude of the effect decreases in sample II to 57 basis points, and increases in samples III and IV. Including the overall ICRG Political Risk measure or the Conflict subgroup, which we know are associated with growth for the segmented countries, as separate controls, does not alter the significance of the liberalization effect. We conclude that our results are not likely due to the endogeneity of the liberalization decision.

4.4 Endogeneity and financial development

Our test design definitely suffers less from endogeneity concerns than earlier tests of the links between general financial development and growth. However, our tests do suffer from a subtle endogeneity bias related to financial development: a country cannot liberalize its financial markets when it does not have financial markets. Later we will control for financial development directly, but for these exercises we select countries for which we have data on financial markets and therefore are already somewhat financially developed. Hence, by comparing samples I and II with samples III and especially IV, we basically exclude countries without financial markets and part of the effect that we measure for samples I and II may be a financial under-development phenomenon. Since the liberalization effect is in fact largest for sample IV (see Table 4), this problem does not appear to bias our results towards finding large liberalization effects for our largest samples.

Clayton, Jorgensen and Kavajecz (2000) test the financial underdevelopment hypothesis directly by examining the impact of the existence of financial exchanges on 16 macroeconomic and financial variables. They find that there is no significant association between the existence of a financial exchange and increased GDP growth prospects.

5 Accounting for the Liberalization Effect

Our growth effect is surprisingly large. One potential interpretation is that reforms are multi-faceted. Countries may liberalize equity markets at the same time as they remove restrictions on foreign exchange, deregulate the banking system, and undertake steps to

develop the equity market. In this section, we introduce proxies for other contemporaneous reforms into the main regressions.

We investigate three types of reforms: macro-reforms, financial reforms and legal reforms. We do not have sufficient information to determine the exact time lines of reforms for all our countries in most instances. Consequently, we follow an indirect approach by inserting as control variables into our growth regression continuous variables that measure the direct effect of the reforms. An example would be the level of inflation for macro-reforms. The third bloc of variables examined in Table 2 comprises the variables used in this section. Table 2 shows that indeed in most instances these variables change in the required direction after an equity liberalization, and that liberalized economies score better on measures of macro-economic stability, financial development and rule of law. This is an indication of the potential simultaneity of reforms directly affecting these variables on the one hand and equity market liberalization on the other hand or it may be that equity market liberalization contributes to a better macro-economic environment, promotes financial development or instigates legal reforms that improve the legal environment. In fact, Rajan and Zingales (2003) point out that financial development may be blocked by groups (incumbents) interested in maintaining their monopoly position (in goods and capital markets). They argue that this is less likely to be the case if the country has open trade and free capital flows and hence financial openness may instigate other reforms.

In any case, the introduction of these continuous variables into our regression is likely to drive out the liberalization effect, which is a very coarse measurement of the extent and quality of the reforms. We do have detailed time line information on one type of reform: the introduction of insider trading rules and their implementation and we examine its growth effects and how it affects the growth effect of liberalization directly. Finally, we conjecture that a big reform package is likely after a major financial crisis, such as a banking crisis, and use information on the timing of banking crises to create another control for reform simultaneity effects.

5.1 Macroeconomic reforms

Mathieson and Rojas-Suarez (1992) and Henry (2000) discuss how policy reforms, including equity market liberalization, in developing countries typically involve domestic macroreforms. We consider four variables that proxy for macroeconomic reforms and add them to the regression: trade openness, the level of inflation, the black market foreign exchange premium, and the government deficit.

Our measure of trade openness is the ratio of exports plus imports to GDP. The effect of trade integration and trade liberalization on growth is the subject of a large literature. Dollar (1992), Lee (1993), Edwards (1998), Sachs and Warner (1995) and more recently Wacziarg (2001) have established that lower barriers to trade induce higher growth. Rodriguez and Rodrik (2001) have recently criticized these studies on many grounds. However, Rodriguez and Rodrik primarily question whether trade policy rather than trade volume has affected growth. In our study, we are interested in the effect of financial market liberalization not in testing the impact of trade policy. The results in Table 6, panel B, show that, in all samples, the coefficient on trade openness is highly significant and positive suggesting countries that are open have higher growth than countries that are relatively closed.

Barro (1997a,b) finds a significant negative relation between inflation and economic growth and finds that the result is primarily due to a strong negative relation between very high inflation rates (over 15%) and economic growth. We use the natural logarithm of one plus the inflation rate to diminish the impact of some outlier observations. Indeed, given that the extreme skewness in inflation is primarily due to inflation in Latin-American countries, we also introduce a dummy for Latin America.

The results in Table 6 for the inflation variable are mixed. We find that seven of the eight coefficients on inflation are not significantly different from zero. Inflation is never significant for the Latin American countries. In three of the four non-Latin American samples, the sign is positive and even significant for sample I. In sample IV, inflation has a large but insignificantly negative coefficient for non-Latin American countries.⁷

⁷We also estimated a regression without the Latin American indicator. The coefficient on the single inflation variable was not significantly different from zero. We also considered a regression with dummies

We also examine the effect of introducing black market foreign exchange premiums. The black market premium is taken from Easterly (2001). This variable measures the premium market participants must pay, relative to the official exchange rate, to exchange the domestic currency for dollars in the parallel market. The black market premium is often used as an indicator of macroeconomic imbalances and would consequently be sensitive to macroreforms. It is also a direct indicator of the existence of foreign exchange restrictions and it should therefore not be surprising that it is closely correlated with market integration and equity market liberalization (see for instance Bekaert (1995)). Hence the black market premium may also be an inverse indicator of the quality and comprehensiveness of the equity market liberalization. Table 2 shows that the black market premium substantially decreases from a preliberalization level of 0.150 to a post-liberalization premium of 0.072.

As with the inflation indicator, we report results (both in Tables 2 and 6) based on the natural logarithm of one plus the black market premium to dampen the influence of outliers. The results in Table 6 show that the premium has a strong negative relation to economic growth in our three largest samples. It is insignificant for our smallest sample.

Our final indicator of macro-reforms is the size of a country's fiscal deficit. IMF adjustment programs often impose budgetary austerity and the sequencing literature on capital market reforms (see, for instance, Edwards (1987)) argues that financial openness can only be beneficial when countries first have government finances under control. Hence, the fiscal deficit variable potentially can both capture policy reform simultaneity and differentiate between successful and not successful liberalizations. For the purposes of our regressions, we define the deficit as the total expenditure less revenue for the central government. The results for the deficit indicator are only available for the smallest sample. However, Table 6 shows that the deficit variable is strongly significant and negatively influences growth prospects.

The final line of Table 6, panel B, shows the impact on the liberalization variable of including these four macroeconomic variables. In all of the samples, the size of the liberalization coefficient decreases by about 25 basis points – but remains significantly different for Brazil and Argentina only, the largest outliers in inflation data. Here, we find negative but insignificant coefficients, whereas the effect for Argentina and Brazil is negative and significant.

from zero. For example, in sample I, the coefficient is reduced from 0.97% (Table 3 and repeated in Table 6, panel A) to 0.74%. Hence, our results indicate that part of the equity market liberalization effect is accounted for by these four different proxies for macro-reforms.

5.2 Financial reforms

Regulatory changes furthering financial development may have occured simultaneously with the equity market liberalization. There is a significant literature that studies the relation between financial development and growth with contributions as early as McKinnon (1973) and Patrick (1966). Interestingly, Rousseau and Sylla (1999, 2003) show that early U.S. growth in the 1815-1840 period and early growth in other countries was finance led. We examine two financial development indicators: the size of the banking sector and stock exchange trading activity.

King and Levine (1993) study the impact of banking sector development on growth prospects.⁸ Kaminisky and Schmukler (2002) study the timing and impact of equity market, capital account, and banking reforms. Panel C of Table 6 examines the role of the banking sector by adding private credit to GDP to the growth regression. Private credit to GDP enters significantly in all samples.

Atje and Jovanovic (1989), Demirgüç-Kunt and Levine (1996), Demirgüç-Kunt and Maksimovic (1996) and Levine and Zervos (1996, 1998a) examine the effect of stock market development on economic growth. In panel C, we also add, as an additional independent variable, equity turnover (a measure of trading activity). This financial variable is only available for the two smaller sets of countries: 50 and 28 countries. The results in panel C of Table 6 show that the coefficient on the turnover variable is positive and significant for both

⁸Jayarathne and Strahan (1996) find that banking deregulation led to higher regional economic growth within the U.S. whereas Beck, Levine and Loayza (2000) and Levine, Loayza and Beck (2000) measure the growth effect of the "exogenous component" of banking development.

⁹We do not consider market capitalization to GDP, since this variable is hard to interpret. Having a measure of overall equity values in the numerator, it may simply be a forward looking indicator of future growth or it may be related to the cost of capital. In addition, Rousseau and Wachtel (2000) find market capitalization to GDP to have a weaker impact than value traded in their cross-country analysis of growth.

samples. This implies a positive relation between stock market development and economic growth, consistent with previous studies.

In all four samples, the liberalization effect is somewhat diminished, dropping between 17 and 20 basis points across the samples. However, the liberalization coefficient continues to be significantly different from zero. Clearly, liberalization is more than just another aspect of more general financial development, not deserving of special attention.

5.3 Legal environment

In a series of influential papers, La Porta et al. (1997, 1998, 1999, 2000) and Djankov et al. (2003) stress the cross-country differences in the legal environment (either laws or their enforcement) in general and the legal environment regarding investor protection in particular. Reforms improving investor protection may promote financial development (see La Porta et al. (1997) for a direct test) and hence growth. The recent literature on financing constraints suggests a concrete channel through which this may occur. If capital markets are imperfect, external capital is likely to be more costly than internal capital and a shortage of internal capital will reduce investment below first-best levels. Recent empirical work shows that financial development (see Rajan and Zingales (1998), Love (2003)) and the liberalization of the banking sector (Laeven (2000)) may help relax these financing constraints and increase investment. Financial liberalization will make available more foreign capital but this does not necessarily resolve the market imperfections that lead to a wedge between the internal and external finance cost of capital. Reforms improving corporate governance and reducing the ability of insiders to extract resources from the firm may directly affect the external cost of capital. More generally, a better legal environment may increase steady state GDP. Whereas it is possible that the presence of foreign investors promotes financial reforms that help reduce financing constraints and the external finance cost of capital premium, it is conceivable that reforms improving the legal environment and investor protection are the real source of the improved growth prospects.

To examine this issue, we follow La Porta et al. (1997) and use a variable that measures the rule of law in general which is the Rule of Law subcomponent of the ICRG political risk rating. Table 2 indicates that this variable significantly increases post-liberalization. When we add this measure to the growth regression (see Panel D), the growth effect of equity market liberalization slightly increases for sample II, but decreases for samples III and IV by about 20 basis points. In these last two samples, Law and Order generates small but significant growth effects.

Second, we use the insider trading law dummies created by Bhattacharya and Daouk (2002). They argue that the enforcement of insider trading laws makes developing markets more attractive to international investors. They present evidence that associates insider trading laws with a lower cost of capital in a sample of 95 countries. Importantly, Bhattacharya and Daouk distinguish between the enactment of insider trading laws and the enforcement of these laws.

Insider trading laws, and especially their enforcement, may be quite closely related to the corporate governance problems that lead to the external finance premium. Enforcement of insider trading laws may be a good instrument for reduced external financing constraints. It is possible that the enactment of such rules are particularly valued and perhaps demanded by foreigners before they risk investing in emerging markets. Indeed, the enforcement of insider trading laws may proxy for a more general state of law enforcement that may be correlated with policy reforms introducing equity market liberalization.

Panel D of Table 6 examines the relation between the enactment and enforcement of insider trading laws and economic growth. The existence of these laws has no significant relation to economic growth, as evidenced in the first set of results. While the coefficients on insider trading prosecutions are also not significantly different from zero, they are consistently positive across the four samples ranging between 0.22% (sample IV) and 0.33% (sample III).

However, the equity market liberalization remains significantly different from zero in the presence of the insider trading variable and drops by at most 11 basis points.¹⁰

¹⁰Bhattacharya and Daouk (2002) examine the differential impact of insider trading laws and financial liberalizations on the cost of capital. While they find that both factors are important, the liberalization effect is more prominent.

5.4 Banking crises

It is conceivable that a major crisis of an economic nature induces a plethora of reforms, one of which being an equity market liberalization.¹¹ If this is the case, a crisis indicator could be a very useful control for the policy simultaneity problem. Caprio and Klingebiel (2001) provide the necessary information to create such an indicator; they survey and date banking crises for about 90 countries, differentiating between systemic and non-systemic banking crises. A banking crisis can bias our regressions in two distinct ways.

First, if policy reforms are clustered right after a crisis, the presence of a crisis negatively affects growth just before the reforms take place biasing the growth effect upward. We use a contemporaneous banking crisis dummy to control for this effect. Panel E of Table 6 shows that in all samples and across both definitions, growth is significantly lower during crisis times. However, the introduction of the crisis dummy does not affect the magnitude of the equity market liberalization effect, even though it is somewhat decreased in magnitude, especially in sample IV.

Second, we control for policy simultaneity by adding a dummy variable for the post-crisis period. The variable takes the value of one in the last year of the crisis and each year afterward. In most samples, there is significantly higher economic growth in the post crisis period (either systemic or systemic/borderline). This is particularly true for the broader definition of crisis. The liberalization effect, however, is largely unaffected by the inclusion of the post-banking crisis variable.

Intuition would suggest that some of the increment to economic growth resulting from an equity market liberalization may be attributed to simultaneous policy reforms. While the incremental growth resulting from a liberalization is smaller in the presence of proxies for reforms, they do not completely subsume the equity market liberalization effect.

¹¹For example, Drazen and Easterly (2001) find that reforms are more likely to occur when inflation and black market premiums are at extreme values. Kaminsky and Reinhart (1999) examine the interrelation between banking and currency crises and financial liberalizations.

6 Why do countries respond differently to liberalizations?

It is unlikely that equity market liberalization, or the more general reforms it may proxy for, has the same impact in every country. The growth effect should depend on two factors: how much additional investment do the reforms generate (e.g. because the cost of capital goes down) and the efficiency of new investments. It is likely that countries with a relatively high physical and human capital stock, relatively efficient financial markets, good legal institutions etc. might see highly efficient investment and a large growth response. But one could also make the case that countries with relatively bad institutions, an inefficient legal system, serious corporate governance problems, may experience the largest drop in the cost of capital, and generate larger investment increases. Overall, the signs of interaction effects between liberalization and domestic factors are ex ante unclear.

In this section, we provide an exploratory analysis of what differentiates the liberalization effects across countries. We begin by looking at a simple measure of the comprehensiveness or intensity of the reforms. We then consider whether the magnitude of the effect depends on the level of financial development. Finally, we follow La Porta et al. (1997, 1998, 1999, 2000) and consider institutional factors that measure the quality of the legal environment both overall and specifically for equity investors.

6.1 Intensity of liberalization

Liberalizations are often gradual and our dummy variable does not capture the intensity or comprehensiveness of the liberalization. A country opening up only 10% of its equity market to foreigners should expect a different growth effect than a country that allows 100%. Bekaert (1995) and Edison and Warnock (2003) propose a measure of equity market openness based on the ratio of the capitalization of the IFC investable to the global stocks in each country. A ratio of one means that all of the stocks are available to foreign investors. In Table 7, we call this measure "Intensity A". We also explore a related measure by calculating the ratio

¹²The IFC's global stock index seeks to represent the local stock market whereas the investable index corrects market capitalization for foreign ownership restrictions.

of the number of firms in the investable and global indices for each country ("Intensity B"). Given the high volatility of emerging market equity returns, this measure may be less noisy. Table 1 has more details on the construction of these variables. The estimates reported in panel A of Table 7 can be interpreted as the liberalization effect for countries which are fully open. The effect is, not surprisingly, stronger than the "coarse" liberalization effect. For Intensity Measure B, the growth effect of a full equity market liberalization is at least 1.2% and it is 1.7% in sample IV. For Intensity Measure A, the effects are slightly larger in samples I and II and much larger in samples III and IV. In all samples and for both measures, the coefficients are strongly significantly different from zero.

6.2 Financial development

We explore the differences across countries in the equity market liberalization effect by breaking up the indicator variable into three pieces:

$$y_{i,t+k,t} = \beta Q_{i,1980} + \gamma' \mathbf{X}_{i,t} + \alpha \text{LibFull}_{i,t} + \alpha_L \text{LibLow}_{i,t} + \alpha_H \text{LibHigh}_{i,t} + \delta \text{Char}_{i,t} + \epsilon_{i,t+k,k}$$
 (5)

where LibFull_{i,t} represents an indicator for countries that are fully liberalized throughout our sample; LibLow_{i,t} denotes the countries that liberalize but have a characteristic, such as financial development, that falls below the median of the liberalizing countries; and LibHigh_{i,t} is the analogous definition for countries with a higher than median value of the characteristic. Importantly, the regression also includes the own-effect of the characteristic, which is denoted by $Char_{i,t}$. We report the coefficients on the high and low characteristic indicators as well as a Wald test of whether the coefficients are significantly different. We also report the coefficient on the own effect.¹³

Table 2 suggests that financial development indicators substantially improve post equity market liberalizations. Panel B of Table 7 shows that countries that have a higher than median private credit to GDP ratio experience significantly higher growth after liberalization

¹³We also estimated, but do not report, a more complex specification whereby the characteristics are interacted with the liberalization variables. Given that the results are similar, we elected to report the more intuitive analysis.

(1.05% for higher than average private credit to GDP and 0.48% for low level of private credit to GDP). The results suggest that a strong banking system provides the foundation whereby a country can have a larger increment to growth following an equity market liberalization. Panel B shows very similar results for our proxy for the development of equity markets: turnover. If a country has less than average turnover, then the effect of an equity market liberalization is a modest 0.17%. Countries with more than median turnover experience an average 0.94% boost in growth.

The financial development results provide the following two insights. First, equity market liberalization adds something over and above the impact of a change in a variable that proxies for financial development (Table 6). Second, the level of financial development matters. Liberalizations have a greater effect on economic growth if the country starts with above average financial development (Table 7).

6.3 Legal and investment environment

We look at a number of variables that proxy for the legal environment. We start with the classification of legal systems based on their origins, in La Porta et al. (1997): English, French and Other. La Porta et al. argue that the type of legal regime is a good proxy for the degree of investor protection. We use a measure of judicial efficiency from La Porta et al. (1998) which is based on Business International Corporation's assessment of the "efficiency and integrity of the legal environment as it affects business, particular foreign firms." We also consider the Djankov, La Porta, Lopez-de-Silanes and Shleifer's (2003) measure of the duration of the legal process, both for collection from bad checks and tenant eviction. They argue that this measure is a good instrument for judicial formalism which is inversely related to court quality. One disadvantage of these variables is that they are purely cross-sectional. It is conceivable that liberalization and the presence of foreign investors might affect the legal system. Alternatively, foreign investors may be reluctant to invest in countries with poorly developed legal systems. We find some evidence in favor of the latter interpretation in that all the interaction effects are positive.

For example, according to the results in Table 7 the growth impact of a liberalization

is significantly greater for countries with English versus French legal origins (1.24% versus 0.68%). Although English legal origins is associated with higher growth than Other legal origins, the difference is not statistically significant. There is higher growth effect associated with countries with a speedier judicial processes (0.84% for speedy and 0.29% for slow judicial processes). However, this difference is not significant (p-value is 0.14).

Finally, we examine the state of the investment environment. First, using the IRGG Economic risk rating (which includes current level of GDP per capita, inflation, current account and budget balances), we find that the current state of the economy has an insignificant impact on the heterogeneity of the growth effect. Second, we investigate the Investment Profile subcategory in the ICRG political risk ratings (which includes Contract Viability, Profit Repatriation, and Payment Delays). We find a highly significant difference when sorting by this characteristic. Countries with better than average investment profiles experience a 0.85% increment in growth whereas a lower than average profile shows only a 0.19% increase.

We also use, following La Porta et al. (1997), direct proxies for investor protection: Anti-director Rights, Creditor Rights and Accounting Standards. Countries with better director rights or creditor rights or accounting standards experience higher economic growth. However, the effect for creditor rights is not significant at conventional levels. Some of these effects are quite striking. For example the growth increment for countries with higher than average rated accounting standards is 1.1% whereas it is only 0.04% for countries with below average accounting standards.

Table 7 also includes information on the own effect of each characteristic. Both of the financial development indicators have a positive effect in the regression which is not surprising given the results in Table 6. The own effect for the speed of the judicial process is not significant at conventional significance levels. The current state of the economy has a strongly significantly own effect along with the Investment Profile. Finally, all three of the investor protection variables have positive own effects, however, the accounting standards effect is not significantly different from zero.

Our analysis of heterogeneity of the growth effect has a simple message. First, not all countries experience the same increment to growth after equity market liberalizations.

Second, the countries that benefit the most in terms of growth are those with: higher than average financial development, English rather than French/Other legal origins, a favorable investment profile for foreign direct and portfolio investors, and higher than average investor protection.

7 Conclusions

Although there has been substantial research on the relation between financial development and economic growth, both the finance and development literature lacks a comprehensive analysis of the effects of the equity market liberalization process on economic growth.

Our research demonstrates that equity market liberalization (allowing foreign investors to transact in local securities and vice versa) did increase economic growth. We augment the standard set of variables used in economic growth research with an indicator variable for equity market liberalization. We find that liberalization leads to an approximate one percent increase in annual real per capita GDP growth over a five year period and find this increase to be statistically significant. This result is robust to a wide variety of experiments including: an alternative set of liberalization dates, different groupings of countries, regional indicator variables, business cycle effects, different weighting matrices for the calculation of standard errors, four different time-horizons for measuring economic growth and more.

The approximately one percent increment in real growth following an equity market liberalization is surprisingly large. It is reasonable to expect that equity market liberalizations are intertwined with both macroeconomic reforms and financial development. Our evidence to some degree supports this point of view. Importantly, after controlling for either macro reforms, financial development, banking crises, legal reforms and the ability of a country to enforce its laws, we still find a statistically significant impact on economic growth from equity market liberalizations.

Most of our specifications, by construction, force a common coefficient relating liberalizations to growth in every country. It makes sense that there are country-specific deviations from the average. It is of great interest to investigate what might make a country have a greater (or lesser) response to a financial liberalization. In his book on trade openness, Rodrik (1999) argues that openness may not be suitable for all countries. Likewise financial liberalization may not bring the anticipated benefits depending on the strength of the domestic institutions and other factors. Whereas in recent work, Edwards (2001) and Quinn, Inclan and Toyoda (2001) suggest that the benefits of capital account liberalization are restricted to more developed countries, we do not find the growth effect to depend positively on development levels. We find that countries that are further along in terms of financial development experience a larger than average boost from equity market liberalization. In addition, countries with better legal systems, favorable conditions for foreign investment and investor protection, generate larger growth effects.

Although our regressions are predictive, it is important to keep in mind that they reveal association not causality. While our analysis describes a number of plausible channels through which the liberalization effect may have occurred, the answer to the question 'does' rather than 'did' financial liberalization affect economic growth? remains difficult to answer definitively. Interestingly, our broad cross-country growth results appear consistent with scattered micro-evidence and event studies. Levine and Zervos (1998b) find that stock markets become more liquid following stock market liberalizations in a study of 16 countries. Karolyi (1998) surveys a rich ADR literature, which shows that ADRs, which can be viewed as investment liberalizations, lead to reduced costs of capital. Chari and Henry (2002) show that individual firms experience reductions in the costs of capital post-equity market liberalization. Lins, Strickland and Zenner (2003) show that firms from emerging markets listing in the U.S. are able to relax financing constraints. Galindo, Schiantarelli and Weiss (2001) show that financial liberalization improves the efficiency of capital allocation for firms in 12 developing countries. Gupta and Yuan (2003) show that industries which depend more on external finance experience significantly higher growth following liberalization and grow faster through the creation of new plants (rather than investing in existing ones).

Finally, we measure an average growth effect. If true, the distribution of the welfare gain is an important social issue. Das and Mohapatra (2003) show that the gains from increased growth post-equity market liberalization are unequally distributed, accruing mostly to the top quintile of the population.

8 Bibliography

- Arteta, C., B. Eichengreen and C. Wyplosz, 2003, When Does Capital Account Liberalization Help More than it Hurts? in Elhanan Helpman and Efraim Sadka, eds., *Economic Policy in the International Economy*, Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- Atje, R., and B. Jovanovic, 1989, Stock Markets and Development, European Economic Review 37, 632-640.
- Barro, R., 1997a, Determinants of Economic Growth, MIT Press: Cambridge, MA.
- Barro, R. J., 1997b, Determinants of Economic Growth: A Cross-Country Empirical Study, Harvard Institute for International Development, Development Discussion Paper No. 579.
- Barro, R. and X. Sala-i-Martin, 1995, Economic Growth McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.
- Beck, T., R. Levine, N. Loayza, 2000, Finance and Sources of Growth, *Journal of Financial Economics* 58, 261–300.
- Bekaert, G., 1995, Market Integration and Investment Barriers in Emerging Equity Markets, World Bank Economic Review 9, 75-107.
- Bekaert, G. and C. R. Harvey, 1995, Time-varying World Market Integration, *Journal of Finance* 50, 403-444.
- Bekaert, G. and C. R. Harvey, 2000, Foreign Speculators and Emerging Equity Markets, *Journal of Finance* 55, 565-614.
- Bekaert, G. and C. R. Harvey, 2002, Chronology of Important Financial, Economic and Political Events in Emerging Markets, http://www.duke.edu/~charvey/chronology.htm
- Bekaert, G., C. R. Harvey and C. Lundblad, 2001, Emerging Equity Markets and Economic Development, *Journal of Development Economics* 66, 465-504.
- Bhattacharya, U. and H. Daouk, 2002. The World Price of Insider Trading, *Journal of Finance* 57, 75-108.
- Bonser-Neal, C. and K. L. Dewenter, 1999, Does Financial Market Development Stimulate Savings? Evidence from Emerging Markets, *Contemporary Economic Policy*, 370-380.
- Caprio Jr., G. and D. Klingebiel, 2001, Bank Insolvencies: Cross-country Experience, Working paper 1620, World Bank, Washington, DC.
- Caselli, F., G. Esquivel and F. Lefort, 1996, Reopening the Convergence Debate: A New Look at Cross-Country Growth Empirics, *Journal of Economic Growth* 1, 363-389.
- Chari, A., Henry, P.B., 2002, Risk Sharing and Asset Prices: Evidence From a Natural Experiment, *Journal of Finance* forthcoming.
- Clayton, M. J., B. N. Jorgensen, and K. A. Kavajecz, 2000, On the Formation and Structure of International Exchanges, Working paper, New York University.
- Das, M., and S. Mohapatra, 2003, Income Inequality: The Aftermath of Stock Market Liberalization in Emerging Markets, *Journal of Empirical Finance*, 10, 217-248.

- Demirgüç-Kunt, A. and R. Levine, 1996, Stock Market Development and Financial Intermediaries: Stylized Facts, World Bank Economic Review, 291-322.
- Demirgüç-Kunt, A., and V. Maksimovic. 1996. Stock Market Development and Financing Choices of Firms, World Bank Economic Review, 10, 341-370.
- Devereux, M. B. and G. W. Smith, 1994, International Risk Sharing and Economic Growth, *International Economic Review* 35, 535-551.
- Djankov, S., La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., Shleifer, A., 2003, Courts, Quarterly Journal of Economics 118, 453-518.
- Dollar, David, 1992, Outward-Oriented Developing Countries Really Do Grow More Rapidly: Evidence from 95 LDCs, 1976-85, *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, April, 523-544.
- Drazen, A. and W. Easterly, 2001, Do Crises Induce Reform? Simple Empirical Tests of Conventional Wisdom, *Economics and Politics* 13, No. 2, July, 129-158
- Easterly, W., 2001, The Lost Decades: Developing Countries' Stagnation in Spite of Policy Reform 1980-1998, *Journal of Economic Growth* 6, 2, 135-157.
- Edison, H., R. Levine, L. Ricci and T. Slot, 2002, International Financial Integration and Economic Growth, *Journal of International Money and Finance* 21, 749-776.
- Edison, H. and F. Warnock, 2003, A Simple Measure of the Intensity of Capital Controls, Journal of Empirical Finance 10, 81-104.
- Edwards, S., 1987, Sequencing of Economic Liberalization in Developing Countries, *Finance and Development* 24, 1, 26-29.
- Edwards, S., 1998, Openness, Productivity, and Growth: What Do We Really Know?, *Economic Journal*, 108, 383-398.
- Edwards, S., 2001, Capital Mobility and Economic Performance: Are Emerging Economies Different, in H. Siebert, ed., *The Worlds New Financial Landscape: Challenges for Economic Policy*, Springer, 219-244.
- Eichengreen, B., 2002, Capital Account Liberalization: What do the Cross-Country Studies Tell Us?, World Bank Economic Review 15, 3, 341-366.
- Erb, C., C. R. Harvey and T. Viskanta, 1996, Expected Returns and Volatility in 135 countries, Journal of Portfolio Management, 22, Spring, 46-58.
- Errunza, V. R., and E. Losq, 1985, International Asset Pricing Under Mild Segmentation: Theory and Test, *Journal of Finance* 40, 105–124.
- Galindo, A., F. Schiantarelli, and A. Weiss, 2001, Does Financial Liberalization Improve the Allocation of Investment, Unpublished working paper, Boston College.
- Gartzke, Erik, Dong-Joon Jo and Richard Tucker, 2002, The similarity of UN policy positions, Working paper, Vanderbilt University.
- Gilchrist, S. and C. Himmelberg, 1998, *Investment, Fundamentals and Finance*, NBER Macroeconomics Annual, MIT Press.
- Grilli, V. and G. M. Milesi-Ferretti, 1995, Economic Effects and Structural Determinants of

- Capital Controls, IMF Staff Papers 42, 517-551.
- Gupta, N., and K. Yuan, 2003, Financial Dependence and Growth: Evidence from Stock Market Liberalizations, Unpublished working paper, University of Michigan.
- Hansen, L. and R. Hodrick, 1980, Forward Exchange Rates as Optimal Predictors of Future Spot Rates: An Econometric Analysis, *Journal of Political Economy*, 88, 829-853.
- Henry, P. B., 2000, Stock Market Liberalization, Economic Reform, and Emerging Market Equity Prices, *Journal of Finance* 55, 529-564
- Hubbard, G., 1997, Capital Market Imperfections and Investment, *Journal of Economic Literature* 36, 3, 193-225.
- Islam, N. 1995, Growth Empirics: A Panel Data Approach, Quarterly Journal of Economics 107, 1127-1170.
- Jayaratne, J. and P. E. Strahan, 1996, The Finance-Growth Nexus: Evidence from Bank Branch Deregulation, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* CXI, 639-670.
- Kaminsky, G. L. and C. Reinhart, 1999, The Twin Crises: The Causes of Banking and Balance of Payments Problems, *American Economic Review* 89, 473-500.
- Kaminsky, G. L. and S.L. Schmukler, 2002, Short-Run Pain, Long-Run Gain: The Effects of Financial Liberalization, Unpublished working paper, George Washington University.
- Karolyi, A., 1998, Why Do Companies List Their Shares Abroad? (A Survey of the Evidence and its Managerial Implications), Salomon Brothers Monograph Series, 7, New York University.
- King, R. G., and R. Levine. 1993. Finance, Entrepreneurship and Growth. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 32, 513-542.
- King, R. and R. Levine, 1994, Capital fundamentalism, economic development, and economic growth, *Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy* 40, 259–292.
- Klenow, P. J. and A. Rodriquez-Clare, 1997, Economic Growth: A Review Essay, *Journal of Monetary Economics* 40, 597-617.
- Kraay, A, 1998, In Search of the Macroeconomic Effects of Capital Account Liberalizations, World Bank.
- La Porta, R., F. Lopez-de-Silanes, A. Shleifer, and R. W. Vishny, 1997, Legal Determinants of External Finance, *Journal of Finance*, 52, 1131-1150.
- La Porta, R., F. Lopez-de-Silanes, A. Shleifer, and R.W. Vishny, 1998, Law and Finance, Journal of Political Economy 106, 1113-1155.
- La Porta, R., F. Lopez-de-Silanes, A. Shleifer, and R.W. Vishny, 1999, The Quality of Government, *Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization* 15, 222-279.
- La Porta, R., F. Lopez-de-Silanes, A. Shleifer, and R.W. Vishny, 2000, Investor Protection and Corporate Governance, *Journal of Financial Economics* 58, 3-28.
- Laeven, L., 2000, Financial Liberalization and Financing Constraints: Evidence from Panel Data on Emerging Economies, Working paper, World Bank.
- Lee, J.W., 1993, International Trade, Distortions and Long-run Economic Growth, IMF Staff

- Papers 40, 299-328.
- Levine, R., N. Loayza and T. Beck, 2000, Financial Intermediation and Growth: Causality and Causes, *Journal of Monetary Economics* 46, 31–77.
- Levine, R. and D. Renelt, 1992, A Sensitivity Analysis of Cross-Country Growth Regressions, *American Economic Review* 82, 942-963.
- Levine, R. and S. Zervos, 1996, Stock Market Development and Economic Growth, World Bank Economic Review 10, 323-340.
- Levine, R. and S. Zervos, 1998a, Stock Markets, Banks, and Economic Growth, *American Economic Review* 88:3, 537–558.
- Levine, R. and S. Zervos, 1998b, Capital Control Liberalization and Stock Market Development, World Development, August, 1169-1183.
- Lins, K., D. Strickland and M. Zenner, 2003, Do Non-U.S. Firms Issue Equity on U.S. Exchanges to Relax Capital Constraints? *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, forthcoming
- Love, I., 2003, Financial Development and Financing Constraints: International Evidence from the Structural Investment Model, *Review of Financial Studies* forthcoming.
- Mankiw, N. G., 1995, The Growth of Nations, *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 1, 275-310.
- Mathieson, D. and L. Rojaz-Suarez, 1992, Liberalization of the Capital Account: Experiences and Issues, Staff papers, International Monetary Fund, Washington, D.C.
- McKinnon, R. I. 1973. Money and Capital in Economic Development, Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution.
- Miniane, J., 2000, A New Set of Measures on Capital Account Restrictions, Unpublished working paper, Johns Hopkins University.
- Patrick, H., 1966, Financial Development and Economic Growth in Underdeveloped Countries, Economic Development Cultural Change 14, 174-89.
- Perotti, E., and P. van Oijen, 2001, Privatization, Political Risk and Stock Market Development in Emerging Economies, *Journal of International Money and Finance* 20, 1, 43-69.
- Quinn, D., 1997, The Correlates of Changes in International Financial Regulation, American Political Science Review 91, 531–551.
- Quinn, D., 2001, Democratization and International Financial Liberalization, Unpublished working paper, Georgetown University.
- Quinn, D., C. Inclan and A. M. Toyoda, 2001, How and Where Capital Account Liberalization Leads to Growth, Unpublished working paper, Georgetown University.
- Rajan, R. G. and L. Zingales, 1998, Financial Dependence and Growth, *American Economic Review* 88, 559-586.
- Rajan, R. G. and L. Zingales, 2003, The Great Reversals: The Politics of Financial Development in the 20th Century, *Journal of Financial Economics* forthcoming.
- Rodriguez, F. and D. Rodrik, 2001, Trade Policy and Economic Growth: A Skeptic's Guide to the Cross-National Evidence, *Macroeconomics Annual 2000*, eds. Ben Bernanke and

- Kenneth S. Rogoff, MIT Press for NBER, Cambridge, MA.
- Rodrik, D., 1998, Who Needs Capital Account Convertibility? Unpublished working paper.
- Rodrik, D., 1999, *Determinants of Economic Growth*, Overseas Development Council, Washington, DC.
- Rousseau, P. L. and R. Sylla, 1999, Emerging financial markets and early U.S. growth, National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 7448, November.
- Rousseau, P. L. and R. Sylla, 2003, Financial systems, economic growth and globalization, In M.D. Bordo, A.M. Taylor, and J.G. Williamson, eds., Globalization in Historical Perspective. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 373-413.
- Rousseau, P. L., and P. Wachtel, 2000, Equity markets and growth: Cross-country evidence on timing and outcomes, 1980–1995, *Journal of Banking and Finance* 1933-1958.
- Sachs, J. D. and A. M. Warner, 1995, Economic Reform and the Process of Global Integration, Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, 1-118.
- Stiglitz, J. E., 2000, Capital Market Liberalization, Economic Growth and Instability, World Development 25, 1075-1086.
- Stulz, R. M., 1995, International Asset Pricing: An Integrative Survey, *Handbook of Modern Finance*, R. Jarrow, M. Maksimovic and W. Ziemba, eds., North Holland-Elsevier, 201-223.
- Warnock, F. and M. Mason, 2001, The Geography of Capital Flows, *Emerging Markets Quarterly* 5, 15-29.
- Wacziarg, R., 2001, Measuring the Dynamic Gains From Trade, World Bank Economic Review 15. 3, 393-429.
- Wurgler, J., 2000, Financial Markets and the Allocation of Capital, *Journal of Financial Economics* 58, 187-214.

Table 1 **Description of the Variables**

All data are employed at the annual frequency.

Variable	Description
	Dating equity market liberalization
Official equity market liberalization indicator	Corresponding to a date of formal regulatory change after which foreign investors officially have the opportunity to invest in domestic equity securities. Official Liberalization dates, presented in Table 2, are based on Bekaert and Harvey (2002) A Chronology of Important Financial, Economic and Political Events in Emerging Markets, http://www.duke.edu/~charvey/chronology.htm. This chronology is based on over 50 different source materials. A condensed version of the chronology, along with the selection of dates for a number of countries appears in Bekaert and Harvey (2000). We have extended their official liberalization dates to include Japan, New Zealand, and Spain. For the liberalizing countries, the associated official liberalization indicator takes a value of one when the equity market is officially liberalized and thereafter, and zero otherwise. For the remaining countries, fully segmented countries are assumed to have an indicator value of zero, and fully liberalized countries are assumed to have an indicator value of one. These dates appear in Appendix A.
First sign equity market liberalization indicator	"First Sign" equity market liberalization dates denote the year associated with the earliest of three dates: official liberalizations, first American Depositary Receipt (ADR) announcement and first country fund launch. The first sign indicator takes a value of one on and after the first sign year, and zero otherwise. As with the official liberalization indicator, fully segmented countries are assumed to have an indicator value of zero, and fully liberalized countries are assumed to have an indicator value of one. These dates are reported in Appendix A.
Intensity equity market liberalization indicator	Following Bekaert (1995) and Edison and Warnock (2003), the intensity measure is based on the ratio of the market capitalization of the constituent firms comprising the IFC Investable index to those that comprise the IFC Global index for each country. The IFC Global index, subject to some exclusion restrictions, is designed to represent the overall market portfolio for each country, whereas the IFC Investable index is designed to represent a portfolio of domestic equities that are available to foreign investors. A ratio of one means that all of the stocks are available to foreign investors. We denote this measure: <i>Intensity A</i> . We also explore a related measure, <i>Intensity B</i> , by calculating the ratio of the number of firms in the investable and global indices for each country. In both cases, fully segmented countries have an intensity measure of zero, and fully liberalized countries have an intensity measure of one.
	Other important dates
Capital account liberalization indicator	We measure capital account openness by employing the the IMF's <i>Annual Report on Exchange Arrangements and Exchange Restrictions</i> (AREAER). This publication reports six categories of information. The capital account liberalization indicator takes on value of zero if the country has at least one restriction in the particular category. The category that we focus on is the "restrictions on payments for the capital account transaction." These dates are reported in Appendix A.
Banking sector crisis indicator	Caprio and Klingebiel (2001) document systemic and borderline banking sector crises. We construct banking crisis indicators that take a value of one when a) a country is undergoing a systemic banking sector crisis or b) when a country is undergoing either a systemic or borderline banking sector crisis. We also construct post-banking crisis indicators that take a value of one in the last year and each subsequent year following a) a systemic banking sector crisis or b) either a systemic or borderline banking sector crisis.
Insider trading law indicator	Bhattacharya and Daouk (2002) document the enactment of insider trading laws and the first prosecution of these laws. We construct two indicator variables. The first takes the value of one following the introduction of an insider trading law. The second takes the value of one after the law's first prosecution.

(Continued)	
Variable	Description
	Macroeconomic and demographic measures
Gross domestic product (GDP) growth	Growth of real per capita gross domestic product. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.
Initial GDP	Logarithm of real per capita gross domestic product in 1980. Available for all countries. Source: World Bank Development Indicators CD-ROM.
Government consumption/GDP	Government consumption divided by gross domestic product. General government final consumption expenditure includes all government current expenditures for purchases of goods and services (including compensation of employees). It also includes most expenditures on national defense and security, but excludes government military expenditures that are part of government capital formation. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.
Secondary school enrollment	Secondary school enrollment ratio is the ratio of total enrollment, regardless of age, to the population of the age group that officially corresponds to the secondary level of education. Accordingly, the reported value can exceed (or average) more than 100%. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997 to the secondary level of education. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.
Population growth	Growth rate of total population which counts all residents regardless of legal status or citizenship. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.
Log life expectancy	Life expectancy at birth indicates the number of years a newborn infant would live if prevailing patterns of mortality at the time of its birth were to stay the same throughout its life. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.
OECD GDP growth	Growth of real per capita gross domestic product for high-income OECD members. High-income economies are those in which 1998 GNP per capita was \$9,361 or more. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.
World real interest rate	Constructed from each country's real interest rates. The GDP weighted real interest rate for the G-7 countries, where the real rate for each country is the lending interest rate adjusted for inflation as measured by the GDP deflator. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.
	Macroeconomic reforms
Trade/GDP	The trade dependency ratio is the sum of exports and imports of goods and services measured as a share of gross domestic product. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.
Inflation	Inflation as measured by the log annual growth rate of the gross domestic product implicit deflator. We use the CPI if the GDP-deflator is not available. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: World Bank Development Indicators CD-ROM.
Black market premium	The black market premium is defined as (parallel FXrate/official FXrate-1)*100, where parallel FXrate is the black market rate. The variable measures the premium market participants must pay, relative to the official exchange rate, to exchange the domestic currency for dollars in the black market. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: Easterly (2001).
Fiscal deficit	The overall budget deficit is total expenditure and lending minus repayments less current and capital revenue and official grants received; shown as a percentage of GDP. Data are available for central governments only. Available for 28 countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.

Variable Description

Variables used in endogeneity analysis

Growth Opportunities

An implied measure of country-specific growth opportunities that reflects the growth prospects for each industry (at the global level) weighted by the industrial composition for each country. We construct an annual measure of the 3-digit SIC industry composition for each country by their output shares according to UNIDO Industrial Statistics Database. For each SIC code, we also measure price-earnings (PE) ratios for that industry at the global level, from which we construct an implied measure of growth opportunities for each country by weighting each global industry PE ratio by its relative share for that country. We subtract from this measure the overall world market PE ratio to remove the world discount rate effect (and we remove a 5-year moving average), and call the difference "growth opportunities" (GO). Available for 92 countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: Bekaert et al. (2003).

Political risk rating

The value of the the Political Risk Service (PRS) Group's political risk indicator (which ranges between 0 and 100). The risk rating is a combination of 12 subcomponents (documented below). Overall, a political risk rating of 0.0% to 49.9% indicates a Very High Risk; 50.0% to 59.9% High Risk; 60.0% to 69.9% Moderate Risk; 70.0% to 79.9% Low Risk; and 80.0% or more Very Low Risk. The data are available for 75 countries from 1984 through 1997. For each country, we backfill the 1984 value to 1980. Source: Various issues of the *International Country Risk Guide*. There are 12 subcomponents to this index. We create four sub-indices: POL1 (Political Conditions), POL2 (Quality of Institutions), POL3 (Socioeconomic conditions), and POL4 (Conflict).

POL1 (Political Conditions)

The sum of ICRG subcomponents: Military in Politics and Democratic Accountability

Military in Politics (POL1)

ICRG political risk sub-component (6% weight). The military is not elected by anyone. Therefore, its involvement in politics, even at a peripheral level, is a diminution of democratic accountability. However, it also has other significant implications. The military might, for example, become involved in government because of an actual or created internal or external threat. Such a situation would imply the distortion of government policy in order to meet this threat, for example by increasing the defense budget at the expense of other budget allocations. In some countries, the threat of military take-over can force an elected government to change policy or cause its replacement by another government more amenable to the military's wishes. A military takeover or threat of a takeover may also represent a high risk if it is an indication that the government is unable to function effectively and that the country therefore has an uneasy environment for foreign businesses. A full-scale military regime poses the greatest risk.

Democratic Accountability (POL1)

ICRG political risk sub-component (6% weight). This is a measure of how responsive government is to its people, on the basis that the less responsive it is, the more likely it is that the government will fall, peacefully in a democratic society, but possibly violently in a non-democratic one. However, assessing democratic accountability is more complex than simply determining whether the country has free and fair elections. Even democratically elected governments, particularly those that are apparently popular, can delude themselves into thinking they know what is good for their people even when the people have made it abundantly clear that they do not approve particular policies. Therefore, it is possible for an accountable democracy to have a lower score, i.e. a higher risk, for this component than a less democratic form of government.

Table 1 (Continued) Variable Description POL2 (Quality of Institutions) The sum of ICRG subcomponents: Corruption, Law and Order, and Bureaucratic Quality. Corruption (POL2) ICRG political risk sub-component (6% weight). This is a measure of corruption within the political system. Such corruption: distorts the economic and financial environment, reduces the efficiency of government and business by enabling people to assume positions of power through patronage rather than ability, and introduces an inherent instability into the political process. The most common form of corruption met directly by business is financial corruption in the form of demands for special payments and bribes connected with import and export licenses, exchange controls, tax assessments, police protection, or loans. Although the PRS measure takes such corruption into account, it is more concerned with actual or potential corruption in the form of excessive patronage, nepotism, job reservations, "favor-for-favors," secret party funding, and suspiciously close ties between politics and business. In PRS's view these sorts of corruption pose risk to foreign business, potentially leading to popular discontent, unrealistic and inefficient controls on the state economy, and encourage the development of the black market. Law and Order (POL2) ICRG political risk sub-component (6% weight). PRS assesses Law and Order separately, with each subcomponent comprising zero to three points. The Law sub-component is an assessment of the strength and impartiality of the legal system, while the Order sub-component is an assessment of popular observance of the law. Thus, a country can enjoy a high rating (3.0) in terms of its judicial system, but a low rating (1.0) if the law is ignored for a political aim. Bureaucratic Quality (POL2) ICRG political risk sub-component (4% weight). The institutional strength and quality of the bureaucracy can act as a shock absorber that tends to minimize revisions of policy when governments change. Therefore, high points are given to countries where the bureaucracy has the strength and expertise to govern without drastic changes in policy or interruptions in government services. In these low-risk countries, the bureaucracy tends to be somewhat autonomous from political pressure and to have an established mechanism for recruitment and training. Countries that lack the cushioning effect of a strong bureaucracy receive low points because a change in government tends to be traumatic in terms of policy formulation and day-to-day administrative functions. POL3 (Socio-economic Conditions) The sum of ICRG subcomponents: Government Stability, Socioeconomic Conditions, and Investment Profile Government stability (POL3) ICRG political risk sub-component (12% weight). This is a measure both of the government's ability to carry out its declared program(s), and its ability to stay in office. This will depend on the type of governance, the cohesion of the government and governing party or parties, the closeness of the next election, the government's command of the legislature, and popular approval of government policies. ICRG political risk sub-component (12% weight). This is an attempt to measure general public satisfaction, Socioeconomic Conditions (POL3) or dissatisfaction, with the government's economic policies. In general terms, the greater the popular dissatisfaction with a government's policies, the greater the chances that the government will be forced to change direction, possibly to the detriment of business, or will fall. Socioeconomic conditions cover a broad spectrum of factors ranging from infant mortality and medical provision to housing and interest rates. Within this range different factors will have different weight in different societies. PRS attempts to identify those factors that are important for the society in question, i.e. those with the greatest political impact, and assess the country on that basis. ICRG political risk sub-component (12% weight). This is a measure of the government's attitude to inward Investment Profile (POL3) investment. The investment profile is determined by PRS's assessment of three sub-components: (i) risk of expropriation or contract viability; (ii) payment delays; and (iii) repatriation of profits. Each subcomponent is scored on a scale from zero [very high risk] to four [very low risk].

Variable	Description
POL4 (Conflict)	The sum of ICRG subcomponents: Internal Conflict, External Conflict, Religious Tensions, Ethnic Tensions.
Internal Conflict (POL4)	ICRG political risk sub-component (12% weight). This is an assessment of political violence in the country and its actual or potential impact on governance. The highest rating is given to those countries where there is no armed opposition to the government and the government does not indulge in arbitrary violence, direct or indirect, against its own people. The lowest rating is given to a country embroiled in an on-going civil war. The intermediate ratings are awarded on the basis of whether the threat posed is to government and business or only business (e.g. kidnapping for ransom); whether acts of violence are carried out for a political objective (i.e. terrorist operations); whether such groups are composed of a few individuals with little support, or are well-organized movements operating with the tacit support of the people they purport to represent; whether acts of violence are sporadic or sustained; and whether they are restricted to a particular locality or region, or are carried out nationwide.
External Conflict (POL4)	ICRG political risk sub-component (12% weight). The external conflict measure is an assessment of the risk to both the incumbent government and inward investment. It ranges from trade restrictions and embargoes, whether imposed by a single country, a group of countries, or the whole international community, through geopolitical disputes, armed threats, exchanges of fire on borders, border incursions, foreign-supported insurgency, and full-scale warfare.
Religion in Politics (POL4)	ICRG political risk sub-component (6% weight). Religious tensions may stem from the domination of society and/or governance by a single religious group that seeks to replace civil law by religious law and to exclude other religions from the political and/or social process; the desire of a single religious group to dominate governance; the suppression of religious freedom; the desire of a religious group to express its own identity, separate from the country as a whole. The risk involved in these situations range from inexperienced people imposing inappropriate policies through civil dissent to civil war.
Ethnic Tensions (POL4)	ICRG political risk sub-component (6% weight). This component measures the degree of tension within a country attributable to racial, nationality, or language divisions. Lower ratings are given to countries where racial and nationality tensions are high because opposing groups are intolerant and unwilling to compromise. Higher ratings are given to countries where tensions are minimal, even though such differences may still exist.
	Financial development
Private credit/GDP	Private credit divided by gross domestic product. Credit to private sector refers to financial resources provided to the private sector, such as through loans, purchases of non-equity securities, and trade credits and other accounts receivable that establish a claim for repayment. Available for all countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: <i>World Bank Development Indicators</i> CD-ROM.
Equity market turnover	The ratio of equity market value traded to the market capitalization. The data are available for 50 countries from 1980 through 1997. Source: Standard and Poor's/International Finance Corporation's <i>Emerging Stock Markets Factbook</i> .

(Continued)	
Variable	Description
	Legal environment
Legal origin	Identifies the legal origin of the company law or commercial code of each country (English, French, Socialist, German, Scandinavian). We construct three indicators that take the value of one when the legal origin is Anglo-Saxon (English Law), French (French Law), or other (Law Other), and zero otherwise; legal origin is available for all countries. This variable is purely cross-sectional, and available for all countries. Source: La Porta et al. (1999).
Judicial Efficiency	Assessment of the "efficiency and integrity of the legal environment as it affects business, particularly foreign firms" produced by the country risk rating agency Business International Corp. It may be taken to "represent investors' assessments of conditions in the country in question." Average between 1980 and 1983. Scale from 0 to 10, with lower scores, lower efficiency levels. This variable is purely cross-sectional, and available for 47 countries. Source: La Porta et al. (1998).
Speed of Judicial Process	The total estimated speed in calendar days of the procedure (to evict a tenant for nonpayment of rent or to collect a bounced check) under the factual and procedural assumptions provided. It equals the sum of (i) duration until completion of service of process, (ii) duration of trial, and (iii) duration of enforcement. This variable is purely cross-sectional, and available for 69 countries. Source: Djankov et al. (2003).
	Investment environment
Economic risk rating	The value of the the Political Risk Service (PRS) Group's economic risk indicator (which ranges between 0 and 50). The risk rating is a combination of 5 subcomponents: GDP levels and growth, respectively, inflation, balanced budgets, and the current account. The minimum number of points for each component is zero, while the maximum number of points depends on the fixed weight that component is given in the overall economics risk assessment.
Anti-director rights	Assessment of the "efficiency and integrity of the legal environment as it affects business, particularly foreign firms" produced by the country risk rating agency Business International Corp. It may be taken to "represent investors' assessments of conditions in the country in question." Average between 1980 and 1983. Scale from 0 to 10, with lower scores, lower efficiency levels. This variable is purely cross-sectional, and available for 47 countries. Source: La Porta et al. (1998).
Creditor rights	An index aggregating different creditor rights. The index is formed by adding 1 when (1) the country imposes restrictions, such as creditors' consent or minimum dividends to file for reorganizations; (2) secured creditors are able to gain possession of their security once the reorganization petition has been approved (no automatic stay); (3) secured creditors are ranked first in the distribution of the proceeds that results from the disposition of the assets of a bankrupt firm; and (4) the debtor does not retain the administration of its property pending the resolution of ther reorganization. The index ranged from 0 to 4. This variable is purely cross-sectional, and available for 45 countries. Source: La Porta et al. (1998).
Accounting Standards	Index created by examining and rating companies' 1990 annual reports on their inclusion or omission of 90 items. These items fall into seven categories (general information, income statements, balance sheets, funds flow statements, accounting standards, stock data, and special items). A minimum of three companies in each country were studied. The companies represent a cross section of various industry groups; industrial companies represented 70 percent, and financial companies represented the remaining 30 percent. This variable is purely cross-sectional, and available for 39 countries. Source: La Porta et al. (1998).

Table 2 **Summary Statistics**

3 12 1111 11 11	Pre-	Post-		Fully	Never	
Variable	Liberalization	Liberalizatio	n	Liberalized	Liberalized	d
Real GDP growth (3-year)	0.0160	0.0265	**	0.0201	-0.0016	***
Real GDP growth (5-year)	0.0159	0.0276	***			
Real GDP growth (7-year)	0.0153	0.0264	***			
Govt/GDP	0.1379	0.1328		0.1885	0.1581	***
Enrollment	0.5573	0.6115	**	0.9974	0.3439	***
Population Growth	0.0203	0.0169	**	0.0060	0.0255	***
Life Expectancy	65.7	67.7	**	75.7	56.9	***
Growth Opportunity	-0.0301	0.0076	***	-0.0016	-0.0012	
ICRG Political Index (75 countries)	0.5681	0.6494	***	0.8384	0.5116	***
Pol1 (Political Conditions)	0.5855	0.6505	***	0.9648	0.4542	***
Pol2 (Quality of Institutions)	0.5273	0.6033	***	0.9333	0.4158	***
Pol3 (Socio-Economic)	0.4863	0.5472	***	0.6534	0.4522	***
Pol4 (Conflict)	0.6671	0.7843	***	0.9364	0.6350	***
Trade/GDP	0.6229	0.6383		0.8429	0.6970	***
Log(1+Inflation) (Latin)	0.1890	0.0383		0.842 <i>9</i> NA	0.0576	***
Log(1+Inflation) (Not Latin)	0.0993	0.1411		0.0411	0.0330	***
Log(1+Black Market Premium)	0.1499	0.0837	***	0.0007	0.0934	***
Fiscal Deficit (28 countries)	0.0606	0.0724	***	0.0307	NA	***
1 ISCAL Deficit (28 countries)	0.0000	0.0333	***	0.0307	IVA	
Private Credit/GDP	0.3831	0.4263		0.8095	0.2286	***
Turnover (50 countries)	0.1814	0.2664		0.4938	NA	
Banking Crisis (systematic)	0.3243	0.2941		0.1131	0.3300	***
Banking Crisis (systematic and borderline)	0.5243	0.5784		0.3891	0.4190	
Law and Order (75 countries)	0.4875	0.6065	***	0.9510	0.4472	***
Insider Trading Law	0.4205	0.7241	***	0.6540	0.0836	***
Insider Trading Prosecution	0.0667	0.1149	*	0.4325	NA	
moder Trucing Prosecution	0.0007	0.111)		0.1323	1111	
Judicial efficiency (47countries)				0.9456	NA	
Speed of process (checks+eviction) (69 countries)				408.3	363.4	
ICRG Economic Index (75 countries)	0.5895	0.6765	***	0.7845	0.5909	
Investment profile (75 countries)	0.4660	0.5312	***	0.6494	0.4680	***
Anti-director rights (47countries)				0.4902	NA	
Creditor rights (45 countries)				0.4853	NA	
Accounting standards (39 countries)				0.6950	NA	
1100 arreing bearings (3) countries)				0.0750	11/1	

We explore the 3, 5, and 7-year averages of the growth rate of real per capita gross domestic product and the 5-year averages of the other variables employed in the paper (and summarized in Table 1) before and after the equity market liberalization (including the liberalization year in the "after" period). For some countries, we do not have a full 3, 5, or 7 years available given the timing of the liberalization, so we simply take the available years in the average. For all variables, unless otherwise stated, the summary statistics reflect data for 95 countries from 1980-1997. Official liberalization means that the equity market is liberalized. Fully Liberalized denotes countries that are fully liberalized throughout our sample, whereas Never Liberalized denotes countries that never undergo financial liberalization. Statistical significance is denoted by a * for 10%, ** for 5%, and *** for 1%.

Table 3

Classic Growth Regressions and the Impact of Liberalization

Annual Average Real GDP growth (Five-year horizon) for Sample I (95 countries)

				Secondary-			Official
Fixed		Initial		School	Population		Liberalization
Effects	Constant	Log(GDP)	Gov/GDP	Enrollment	Growth	Log(Life)	Indicator
No	-0.0038	0.0014					0.0129
	0.0043	0.0006					0.0023
No	-0.0027	0.0021	-0.0362				0.0120
	0.0043	0.0006	0.0134				0.0022
No	0.0157	-0.0033		0.0326			0.0092
	0.0054	0.0010		0.0048			0.0022
No	0.0088	0.0005			-0.2671		0.0107
	0.0061	0.0007			0.0886		0.0023
No	-0.3550	-0.0082				0.1027	0.0116
	0.0232	0.0008				0.0066	0.0019
No	-0.3277	-0.0082	-0.0144	0.0004	-0.1911	0.0975	0.0097
	0.0286	0.0010	0.0131	0.0048	0.0774	0.0076	0.0020
Yes	not reported						0.0056
	1						0.0012
Average	of 3 separate r	egressions o	n non-overla	npping 5-year	periods		
Yes	not reported			11 2 3 3 3 3		_	0.0103
	F						0.0014

I refers to a sample of 95 countries detailed in the data appendix. For all estimates (except the last row), the dependent variable is the 5-year overlapping average growth rate of real per capita gross domestic product. Log(GDP) is the log real per capita GDP level in 1980. Govt/GDP is the ratio of government consumption to GDP; Enrollment is the secondary school enrollment ratio; Population growth is the growth rate of total population; Log(Life Expectancy) is the log life expectancy of the total population; and the official liberalization variable takes a value of one when the equity market is liberalized, and zero otherwise.

We first consider each control variable separately, then all together. If the column denoted "fixed effects" contains a "No", we employ one constant since initial Log(GDP) is constant through time for each country. If the column denoted "fixed effects" contains a "Yes", we drop the Log(GDP) and the other control variables, and include in the regressions, but do not report, fixed country effects. In the last row, we report the simple average of 3 coefficients (and standard errors) associated with separate regressions (over 1981-1995, 1982-1996, and 1983-1997) for which the dependent variable is 3 non-overlapping 5-year GDP average growth rates. That is, each regression has three time-series observations with no overlap; we conduct each regression separately, and then average the resulting coefficients. The weighting matrix we employ in our GMM estimation provides a correction for cross-sectional heteroskedasticity. All standard errors account for the overlapping nature of the data; however, in the last row, no overlap is present.

Table 4

Robustness of the Liberalization Effect

Annual Average Real GDP growth (Five-year horizon)

A: Alternative measurements of liberalization	ū				B: Sensitivity to Regional Influences				
	Sample I	П	Ш	N		Sample I	П	Ш	VI
Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0097	0.0081	0.0088	0.0108	Official Liberalization Indicator (Latin)	0.0065	0.0043	0.0052	0.0090
Std. error	0.0020	0.002I	0.0021	0.0044	Std. error	0.004I	0.0042	0.0051	0.0087
•					Official Liberalization Indicator (Not-Latin)	0.0100	0.0084	0.0098	0.0129
First Sign Liberalization Indicator	0.0122	0.01111	0.0122	9600.0	Std. error	0.0022	0.0023	0.0022	0.0047
Std. error	0.0020	0.002I	0.0022	0.0045					
					C: Sensitivity to Contemporaneous World Growth and Real Interest Rates	Growth and	Real Interes	t Rates	
IMF Capital Account Liberalization Indicator 0.0002	0.0002	-0.0003	0.0053	0.0024		Sample I	П	Ш	VI
Std. error	0.0017	0.0018	0.0020	0.0024	OECD GDP growth (contemporaneous)	0.5049	0.3001	0.6552	0.8752
					Std. error	0.0846	0.0949	0.0942	0.1132
IMF Capital Account Liberalization Indicator	-0.0011	0.0012	0.0043	0.0011	World real interest rate (contemporaneous)	-0.2240	-0.2076	-0.1734	-0.1157
Std. error	0.0017	0.0017	0.0020	0.0022	Std. error	0.0670	0.0750	0.0735	0.0885
Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0094	0.0078	0.0071	0.0092	Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0108	0.0086	0.0112	0.0142
Std. error	0.0021	0.0021	0.002I	0.0044	Std. error	0.0019	0.0020	0.002I	0.0037

include in the regressions, but do not report, the same control variables as presented in the main regression of Table 3. We report the coefficient on the official liberalization variable that takes a value of one when the equity market is liberalized, and zero otherwise. The first sign liberalization indicator takes the value of one after the first of the following events: the officially liberalization date, the introduction of an ADR, or the introduction of a country fund. In Panel B, Latin refers to an indicator that takes the value of one if the country is in Latin America. In Panel C, the World real interest rate for the G-7 countries. OECD GDP growth is the 5-year average real GDP growth of OECD countries. The weighting matrix we employ in our GMM estimation provides a correction for cross-sectional heteroskedasticity. All standard errors account for the overlapping nature of the data. I, II, III, and IV refer to samples of 95, 75, 50 and 28 countries detailed in the data appendix. The dependent variable is the 5-year average growth rate of real per capita gross domestic product. We

Table 5 **Endogeneity**

A: Growth Oppportunities				
5-year average GDP growth	Sample I	II	III	IV
Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0092	0.0080	0.0087	0.0109
Std. error	0.0020	0.0021	0.0021	0.0042
Growth Opportunties	0.0106	0.0101	0.0122	0.0167
Std. error	0.0038	0.0040	0.0039	0.0046

68 liberalizing and segmented countries	Probit Est.	Std. error
Constant	10.45	12.81
Initial Log(GDP)	-0.81	0.35
Gov/GDP	-1.89	2.90
Secondary-School Enrollment	6.30	2.67
Population Growth	11.19	25.80
Log(Life)	-2.76	3.28
Past GDPGrowth	2.63	7.63
Growth Opportunities	-16.84	7.94
Private Credit/GDP	3.49	1.74
ICRG Political Index	5.53	2.48
POL1 (Political)	1.88	1.15
POL2 (Institutions)	5.79	1.91
POL3 (Socio-Economic)	4.07	2.20
POL4 (Conflict)	2.27	1.93

27 countries (5-year average growth)		FE	No FE
ICRG Political Index	-	0.0667	0.0279
Std. error	-	0.0173	0.0097
POL1 (Political Conditions)		-0.0209	0.0047
Std. error	-	0.0096	0.0049
POL2 (Quality of Institutions)		0.0178	0.0094
Std. error	-	0.0143	0.0057
POL3 (Socio-Economic)		-0.0148	0.0177
Std. error	-	0.0129	0.0105
POL4 (Conflict)		0.0798	0.0191
Std. error	-	0.0114	0.0070
D: Instrument Variables Estimation (Quality of	Institutions)		
5-year average GDP growth	Sample II	III	IV
Official Liberalization Indicator (GMM)	0.0081	0.0088	0.0108
Std. error	0.0021	0.0021	0.0044
Official Liberalization Indicator (GMM-IV)	0.0057	0.0099	0.0181
Std. error	0.0022	0.0026	0.0051
ICRG Political Index	0.0035	0.0139	0.0528
Std. error	0.0076	0.0102	0.0155
Official Liberalization Indicator (GMM-IV)	0.0057	0.0085	0.0080
Std. error	0.0023	0.0026	0.0045
POL4 (Conflict)	-0.0088	-0.0078	0.0228
POL4 (Conflict) Std. error	-0.0088 0.0056	-0.0078 0.0072	0.0228 0.0123

0.0022

0.0027

0.0049

I, II, III, and IV refer to samples of 95, 75, 50 and 28 countries detailed in data appendix. In Panels A, C, and D, we report analysis from a regression which has the 5-year average growth rate of real per capita gross domestic product as the dependent variable. We report the coefficients for the official liberalization variable which takes a value of one when the equity market is liberalized, and zero otherwise. In Panel A, we include in the regressions, but do not report, the same control variables as presented in the main regression of Table 3. Further, we augment the control group to include a measure of implied growth opportunities detailed in Table 1.

Std. error

In Panel B, we present probit estimates, where the dependent variable takes a value of zero if the country never liberalizes and a one if the country liberalizes in sample; to focus or the probability of the liberalization decision, we ignore countries that have liberalized before 1980. We have 68 countries that either liberalize after 1980 or do not liberalize at all. For countries that liberalize, the right-hand-side predictive variables are averaged over the 5-years preceding liberalization; for those countries that do not liberalize, the right-hand-side predictive variables are averaged over the 5-years preceding liberalization; for those countries that do not liberalize, the right-hand-side predictive variables are averaged over the 5-years preceding the liberalization date of their closest geographic neighbor. As predictive variables, we include a constant, Log(GDP), Govt/GDP, secondary-school enrollment, population growth, Log(Life Expectancy), past GDP growth, a measure of industry growth opportunities, and private credit/GDP. In addition, we consider one-by-one each of the political risk indicators. Quasi-Maximum Likelihood adjusted standard errors are reported.

In Panels C and D, we conduct growth regressions, where the dependent variable is the 5-year average growth rate of real per capita gross domestic product. In Panel C, to abstract from any liberalization effects, we focus solely on 27 segmented countries. We present two sets of estimates: 1) when fixed effects are included (FE) but not reported, we regress growth on each political variable one-by-one with no additional controls; 2) when fixed effects are excluded (No FE), we include in the regressions, but do not report, the same control variables as presented in the main regression of Table 3. In Panel D, for sample II, III, and IV (for which ICRG data are available, we reproduce our main GMM regression estimates from Table 3. We employ an instrumental variables (IV) estimation within our GMM framework, where we use all the regressors as instruments, but instrument the liberalization indicator with the Pol2 (Quality of Institutions) Variable. That is, we report the coefficient on the official liberalization variable that takes a value of one when the equity market is liberalization are otherwise, but the liberalization indicator is instrumented by the quality of institutions for each country.

For Panels A, C and D, the weighting matrix we employ in our GMM estimation provides a correction for cross-sectional heteroskedasticity. All standard errors account for the overlapping nature of the data.

Table 6

The Influence of the Reform Environment on Liberalization

Annual Average Real GDP growth (Five-year horizon)

A: Main GMM Liberalization Effect	Sample I	II	III	IV	D: Law and Order & Insider Trading	Sample I	II	III	IV
Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0097	0.0081	0.0088	0.0108	Official Liberalization Indicator		0.0090	0.0070	0.0081
Std. error	0.0020	0.0021	0.0021	0.0044	Std. error		0.0022	0.0020	0.0045
					ICRG Law and Order		-0.0001	0.0020	0.0028
					Std. error		0.0007	0.0008	0.0013
B: Macroeconomic Reforms	Sample I	II	III	IV					
Trade	0.0074	0.0098	0.0100	0.0112	Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0087	0.0068	0.0080	0.0103
Std. error	0.0014	0.0016	0.0017	0.0016	Std. error	0.0020	0.0021	0.0021	0.0043
Log(1+Inflation) (Latin)	-0.0006	-0.0017	0.0008	0.0002	Insider Trading Law	0.0003	0.0007	-0.0003	-0.0007
Std. error	0.0023	0.0024	0.0017	0.0030	Std. error	0.0014	0.0015	0.0015	0.0019
Log(1+Inflation) (Not Latin)	0.0092	0.0068	0.0127	-0.0244					
Std. error	0.0042	0.0047	0.0078	0.0201	Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0088	0.0072	0.0077	0.0098
Log(1+Black Market Premium)	-0.0092	-0.0084	-0.0067	-0.0022	Std. error	0.0020	0.0021	0.0021	0.0044
Std. error	0.0018	0.0020	0.0032	0.0069	Insider Trading Prosecution	0.0032	0.0027	0.0033	0.0022
Fiscal Deficit				-0.0960	Std. error	0.0024	0.0024	0.0024	0.0023
				0.0219					
Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0074	0.0054	0.0066	0.0079	E: Banking Crises	Sample I	II	III	IV
Std. error	0.0019	0.0020	0.0021	0.0040	During Systemic Crisis	-0.0072	-0.0093	-0.0085	-0.0116
					Std. error	0.0014	0.0016	0.0015	0.0027
					Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0094	0.0073	0.0084	0.0075
					Std. error	0.0021	0.0022	0.0020	0.0043
C: Financial Development	Sample I	II	III	IV					
Private Credit	0.0125	0.0129	0.0084	0.0091	During Systemic and Borderline Crisis	-0.0081	-0.0109	-0.0126	-0.0117
Std. error	0.0031	0.0032	0.0032	0.0038	Std. error	0.0011	0.0013	0.0013	0.0018
Turnover			0.0152	0.0044	Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0101	0.0074	0.0081	0.0090
Std. error			0.0026	0.0022	Std. error	0.0019	0.0020	0.0021	0.0039
Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0077	0.0061	0.0069	0.0091					
Std. error	0.0020	0.0020	0.0019	0.0043	Post Systemic Crisis	0.0058	0.0069	0.0022	-0.0032
					Std. error	0.0019	0.0022	0.0027	0.0048
					Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0097	0.0083	0.0087	0.0109
					Std. error	0.0020	0.0021	0.0021	0.0043
					Post Systemic and Borderline Crisis	0.0056	0.0065	0.0062	0.0056
					Std. error	0.0014	0.0016	0.0017	0.0021
					Official Liberalization Indicator	0.0091	0.0076	0.0076	0.0097
					Std. error	0.0020	0.0022	0.0021	0.0044

I, II, III, and IV refer to samples of 95, 75, 50 and 28 countries detailed in data appendix. We report analysis from a regression which has the 5-year average growth rate of real per capita gross domestic product as the dependent variable. We include in the regressions, but do not report, the same control variables as presented in the main regression of Table 3. We report the coefficients for the official liberalization variable which takes a value of one when the equity market is liberalized, and zero otherwise.; we reproduce the main liberalization effect in panel A. In panel B, we augment the control group to include: the openness of the trade sector measured by the sum of exports plus imports divided by GDP, the log of one plus the level of inflation, the log of one plus the level of the black market premium for foreign exchange and the size of the government deficit. In Panel C, we consider financial development variables: the ratio of private credit to GDP, which is a banking development indicator, and the value of trading scaled by market capitalization.

In Panel D, we also consider Law and Order (higher values denoting improvements, rescaled to fall between 0 and 1) taken from ICRG, and Insider Trading Law and Insider Trading Prosecution, which are indicators representing either the introduction of laws prohibiting insider trading or actual prosecutions, respectively. In Panel E, we include two indicators of banking crises: systemic and systemic and borderline. In the first case, we introduce a dummy variable that is set to one during a banking crisis contemporaneously with the left-hand side variable. In the second case, we add a variable that takes on a value of one after a banking crisis. The weighting matrix we employ in our GMM estimation provides a correction for cross-sectional heteroskedasticity. All standard errors account for the overlapping nature of the data.

Table 7
Why does the growth effect from liberalizations differ across countries?
Annual Average Real GDP growth (Five-year horizon)

A: Liberalization Intensity		Sample I	II	III	IV			
Intensity Indicator A		0.0107	0.0087	0.0132	0.0130			
Std. error		0.0023	0.0025	0.0029	0.0048			
Intensity Indicator B		0.0115	0.0115	0.0174	0.0168			
Std. error		0.0027	0.0027	0.0028	0.0046			
		from low	from high		Direct Effect			
B: Impact on growth resulting	Fully	level of	level of		of Interaction			Time-series
from liberalization	Liberalized	variable	variable		Variable		countries	available
Financial development								
Private Credit	0.0084	0.0048	0.0105	***	0.0116	**	95	Yes
Turnover	0.0134	0.0017	0.0094	***	0.0152	***	50	Yes
Legal environment								
French vs. English law	0.0072	0.0068	0.0124	**			95	No
Other vs. English law	0.0072	0.0097	0.0124				95	No
Judicial efficiency	0.0105	0.0069	0.0099		0.0057		47	No
Speed of process (combined)	0.0065	0.0029	0.0084		-0.0002		69	No
Investment conditions/protection								
ICRGE	0.0049	0.0071	0.0075		0.0696	***	75	Yes
Investment profile	0.0060	0.0019	0.0075	***	0.0210	***	75 75	Yes
Anti-director rights	0.0000	0.0019	0.0089	**	0.0084	***	47	No
Creditor rights	0.0117	0.0018	0.0089		0.0190	***	45	No
Accounting standards	0.0094	0.0003	0.0110	***	0.0058		39	No

I, II, III, and IV refer to samples of 95, 75, 50 and 28 countries detailed in the data appendix. We report analysis from a regression which has the 5-year average growth rate of real per capita gross domestic product as the dependent variable. We include in the regressions, but do not report, the same control variables as presented in Table 2. In Panel A, Intensity Measure A is the ratio of IFC Investables to Global market capitalization. Intensity Measure B is the ratio of IFC Investables to Global number of companies.

In Panel B, for each interaction variable, we separately conduct regressions which have the 5-year average growth rate of real per capita gross domestic product as the dependent variable. We include in the regressions the same control variables as presented in Table 2. We also separate the liberalization effect for fullly liberalized and liberalizing countries. For liberalizing countries, we estimate interaction effects with the financial development, legal, and investment condition variables; we report the associated impact on GDP growth for a liberalizing country for a low level (below the median of the associated interaction variable for liberalizing countries) and for a liberalizing country at a high level (above the median of the associated interaction variable for liberalizing countries). We provide the significance of a Wald test, for which the null hypothesis is that the high-low effects are equivalent. We also report the statistical significance of the interaction coefficient; statistical significance is denoted by a * for 10%, ** for 5%, and *** for 1%.

The financial development variables we consider are the ratio of private credit to GDP and equity market turnover. The legal environment variables we consider are legal origin (English, French, or "other"), judicial efficiency, and the combined speed of the process to resolve a bounced check or tenant eviction (longer duration implies a lower speed). For all interaction indices, larger values denote improvements. The investment conditions variables we consider are a measure of economic risk, the investment profile, anti-director (minority shareholders) rights, creditor rights, and accounting standards. The number of countries for which the interaction variable is available is also provided. Finally, some of the variables are available as time-series, while others are only available in the cross-section; we denote this in the column laballed "time-series available". The weighting matrix we employ in our GMM estimation provides a correction for cross-sectional heteroskedasticity. All standard errors account for the overlapping nature of the data.

Appendix A
Dating Equity Market Liberalization

	Official Liberalization	Year of First ADR	Year of First Country Fund Introduction	
Country	Year	Introduction		
Argentina (ARG)	1989	1991	1991	
Bangladesh (BGD)	1991	n/a	n/a	
Botswana (BWA)	1990	n/a	n/a	
Brazil (BRA)	1991	1992	1987	
Chile (CHL)	1992	1990	1989	
Colombia (COL)	1991	1992	1992	
Cote d'Voire (CIV)	1995	n/a	n/a	
Ecuador (ECU)	1994	1994*	n/a	
Egypt (EGY)	1992	1996*	n/a	
Ghana (GHA)	1993	1995*	n/a	
Greece (GRC)	1987	1988	1988	
Iceland (ISL)	1987	n/a	n/a	
. ,	1991	1992	1986	
India (IND) Indonesia (IDN)	1992 1989	1992	1989	
Israel (ISR)	1989	1991	1989	
` '	1993	1987*		
Jamaica (JAM)			n/a	
Japan (JPN)	1983	before 1980	n/a	
Jordan (JOR)	1995	1997*	n/a	
Kenya (KEN)	1995	n/a	n/a	
Korea (KOR)	1992	1990	1984	
Malaysia (MYS)	1988	1992	1987	
Malta (MLT)	1992	1998*	n/a	
Mauritius (MUS)	1994	n/a	n/a	
Mexico (MEX)	1989	1989	1981	
Morocco (MAR)	1988	1996*	n/a	
New Zealand (NZL)	1987	1983*	n/a	
Nigeria (NGA)	1995	1998*	n/a	
Oman (OMN)	1999	n/a	n/a	
Pakistan (PAK)	1991	1994*	1991	
Peru (PER)	1992	1994*	n/a	
Philippines (PHL)	1991	1991	1987	
Portugal (PRT)	1986	1990	1987	
Saudi Arabia (SAU)	1999	n/a	1997	
South Africa (ZAF)	1996	1994*	1994	
Spain (ESP)	1985	1988*	n/a	
Sri Lanka (LKA)	1991	1994*	n/a	
Гаiwan (TWN)	1991	1991	1986	
Гhailand (THA)	1987	1991	1985	
Trinidad & Tobago (TTO)	1997	n/a	n/a	
Гunisia (TUN)	1995	1998*	n/a	
Γurkey (TUR)	1989	1990	1989	
Venezuela (VEN)	1990	1991	n/a	
Zimbabwe (ZWE)	1993	n/a	n/a	

The official liberalization dates, date of first ADR issuance, and first country fund are based on Bekaert and Harvey (2000), augmented here to include 10 additional emerging markets, plus Iceland, Japan, Malta, New Zealand and Spain. For countries with a *, we obtain "effective dates" from the Bank of New York (http://www.adrbny.com). Note, the other ADR "announcement" dates are from Miller's (1999); however, he notes that the announcement usually only preceeds the issue by 40 days, on average. For South Africa, the first ADR introduction date is associated with the post-apartheid period; there were many ADRs in the early 1980's which we ignore. All other countries are considered fully liberalized (industrialized) or fully segmented (less developed) from 1980-1997. n/a represents not available; either ADR or country funds (or reliable dates) are not available. Taiwan (TWN) does not enter the samples employed in this paper.

Appendix B **Data Sample Inclusion**

Algeria Argentina Australia Austria	DZA ARG AUS AUT BGD BEL	I,II I,II,III,IV I,II,III,IV I,II,III,IV	Greece Guatemala Guyana Haiti	GRC GTM GUY	I,II,III,IV I,II	Nigeria Norway	NGA	I,II,III
Australia Austria	AUS AUT BGD	I,II,III,IV I,II,III,IV	Guyana		I,II	Norway	NOB	
Austria	AUT BGD	I,II,III,IV	,	GUY		1101 11 41	NOR	I,II,III,IV
	BGD	, , ,	Haiti	001	I	Oman	OMN	I,II
D 1 1 1		* ** ***	паш	HTI	I	Pakistan	PAK	I,II,III
Bangladesh	DEL	I,II,III	Honduras	HND	I,II	Paraguay	PRY	I,II
Belgium	BEL	I,II,III,IV	Iceland	ISL	I,II	Peru	PER	I,II
Barbados	BRB	I	India	IND	I,II,III,IV	Philippines	PHL	I,II,III
Benin	BEN	I	Indonesia	IDN	I,II,III	Portugal	PRT	I,II,III
Botswana	BWA	I	Iran	IRN	I,II	Rwanda	RWA	I
Brazil	BRA	I,II,III,IV	Ireland	IRL	I,II,III,IV	Saudi Arabia	SAU	I,II
Burkina Faso	BFA	I	Israel	ISR	I,II,III	Senegal	SEN	I,II
Cameroon	CMR	I,II	Italy	ITA	I,II,III,IV	Sierra Leone	SLE	I,II
Canada	CAN	I,II,III,IV	Jamaica	JAM	I,II,III	Singapore	SGP	I,II,III,IV
Central African Rep.	CAF	I	Japan	JPN	I,II,III,IV	South Africa	ZAF	I,II,III,IV
Chad	TCD	I	Jordan	JOR	I,II,III	Spain	ESP	I,II,III,IV
Chile	CHL	I,II,III,IV	Kenya	KEN	I,II,III	Sri Lanka	LKA	I,II,III
Colombia	COL	I,II,III	Korea, Rep.	KOR	I,II,III,IV	Swaziland	SWZ	I
Congo, Rep.	COG	I,II	Kuwait	KWT	I,II	Sweden	SWE	I,II,III,IV
Costa Rica	CRI	I,II	Lesotho	LSO	I	Switzerland	CHE	I,II,III,IV
Cote d'Ivoire	CIV	I,II,III	Madagascar	MDG	I	Syria	SYR	I,II
Denmark	DNK	I,II,III,IV	Malawi	MWI	I,II	Thailand	THA	I,II,III,IV
Dominican Rep.	DOM	I,II	Malaysia	MYS	I,II,III,IV	Togo	TGO	I
Ecuador	ECU	I,II	Mali	MLI	I	Trinidad & Tobago	TTO	I,II,III
Egypt, Arab Rep.	EGY	I,II,III	Malta	MLT	I	Tunisia	TUN	I,II,III
El Salvador	SLV	I,II	Mauritius	MUS	I,II	Turkey	TUR	I,II,III
Fiji	FJI	I	Mexico	MEX	I,II,III,IV	United Kingdom	GBR	I,II,III,IV
Finland	FIN	I,II,III	Morocco	MAR	I,II,III	United States	USA	I,II,III,IV
France	FRA	I,II,III,IV	Nepal	NPL	I	Uruguay	URY	I,II
Gabon	GAB	I,II	Netherlands	NLD	I,II,III,IV	Venezuela	VEN	I,II,III
Gambia	GMB	I	New Zealand	NZL	I,II,III	Zambia	ZMB	I,II
Germany	DEU	I,II,III,IV	Nicaragua	NIC	I,II	Zimbabwe	ZWE	I,II,III,IV
Ghana	GHA	I	Niger	NER	I			

This table reports the countries employed in this study. Sample I includes 95 countries, Sample II includes 75 countries, Sample III includes 50 countries, and Sample IV includes 28 countries.

Appendix C

Monte Carlo Analysis of the Liberalization Effect Annual Average Real GDP Growth Rate (Five-Year Horizon) 1000 Replications

Randomized Lib Indicator

	Coefficient	T-stat
Mean	0.0000	0.0252
Median	0.0002	0.1637
2.50%	-0.0059	-3.2316
5.00%	-0.0052	-2.9489
95.00%	0.0048	2.9365
97.50%	0.0057	3.2546

This Table presents evidence from a Monte Carlo procedure (with 1000 replications) that mimics the GMM estimation presented in Table 2, for our largest sample of 95 countries. The dependent variable is the 5-year average growth rate of real per capita gross domestic product. The independent variables are the ones used in Table 2 but the liberalization variable is randomized using the procedure documented in the text. The weighting matrix we employ in our GMM estimation provides a correction for cross-sectional heteroskedasticity. We present the 2.5%, 5.0%, 50%, 95%, and 97.5% percentile for the estimated coefficients and t-statistics on the liberalization coefficient.

NATIONAL BANK OF BELGIUM - WORKING PAPERS SERIES

- 1. "Model-based inflation forecasts and monetary policy rules" by M. Dombrecht and R. Wouters, *Research Series*, February 2000.
- 2. "The use of robust estimators as measures of core inflation" by L. Aucremanne, *Research Series*, February 2000.
- 3. "Performances économiques des Etats-Unis dans les années nonante" by A. Nyssens, P. Butzen, P. Bisciari, *Document Series*, March 2000.
- 4. "A model with explicit expectations for Belgium" by P. Jeanfils, Research Series, March 2000.
- 5. "Growth in an open economy: some recent developments" by S. Turnovsky, *Research Series*, May 2000.
- 6. "Knowledge, technology and economic growth: an OECD perspective" by I. Visco, A. Bassanini, S. Scarpetta, *Research Series*, May 2000.
- 7. "Fiscal policy and growth in the context of European integration" by P. Masson, *Research* Series, May 2000.
- 8. "Economic growth and the labour market: Europe's challenge" by C. Wyplosz, *Research Series*, May 2000.
- 9. "The role of the exchange rate in economic growth: a euro-zone perspective" by R. MacDonald, *Research Series*, May 2000.
- 10. "Monetary union and economic growth" by J. Vickers, Research Series, May 2000.
- 11. "Politique monétaire et prix des actifs: le cas des Etats-Unis" by Q. Wibaut, *Document Series*, August 2000.
- 12. "The Belgian industrial confidence indicator: leading indicator of economic activity in the euro area?" by J.J. Vanhaelen, L. Dresse, J. De Mulder, *Document Series*, November 2000.
- 13. "Le financement des entreprises par capital-risque" by C. Rigo, *Document Series*, February 2001.
- 14. "La nouvelle économie" by P. Bisciari, *Document Series*, March 2001.
- 15. "De kostprijs van bankkredieten" by A. Bruggeman and R. Wouters, *Document Series*, April 2001.
- 16. "A guided tour of the world of rational expectations models and optimal policies" by Ph. Jeanfils, *Research Series*, May 2001.
- 17. "Attractive Prices and Euro Rounding effects on inflation" by L. Aucremanne and D. Cornille, *Documents Series*, November 2001.
- 18. "The interest rate and credit channels in Belgium: an investigation with micro-level firm data" by P. Butzen, C. Fuss and Ph. Vermeulen, *Research series*, December 2001.
- 19 "Openness, imperfect exchange rate pass-through and monetary policy" by F. Smets and R. Wouters, *Research series*, March 2002.
- 20. "Inflation, relative prices and nominal rigidities" by L. Aucremanne, G. Brys, M. Hubert, P. J. Rousseeuw and A. Struyf, *Research series*, April 2002.

- 21. "Lifting the burden: fundamental tax reform and economic growth" by D. Jorgenson, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 22. "What do we know about investment under uncertainty?" by L. Trigeorgis, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 23. "Investment, uncertainty and irreversibility: evidence from Belgian accounting data" by D. Cassimon, P.-J. Engelen, H. Meersman, M. Van Wouwe, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 24. "The impact of uncertainty on investment plans" by P. Butzen, C. Fuss, Ph. Vermeulen, Research series, May 2002.
- 25. "Investment, protection, ownership, and the cost of capital" by Ch. P. Himmelberg, R. G. Hubbard, I. Love, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 26. "Finance, uncertainty and investment: assessing the gains and losses of a generalised non-linear structural approach using Belgian panel data", by M. Gérard, F. Verschueren, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 27. "Capital structure, firm liquidity and growth" by R. Anderson, Research series, May 2002.
- 28. "Structural modelling of investment and financial constraints: where do we stand?" by J.- B. Chatelain, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 29. "Financing and investment interdependencies in unquoted Belgian companies: the role of venture capital" by S. Manigart, K. Baeyens, I. Verschueren, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 30. "Development path and capital structure of Belgian biotechnology firms" by V. Bastin, A. Corhay, G. Hübner, P.-A. Michel, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 31. "Governance as a source of managerial discipline" by J. Franks, Research series, May 2002.
- 32. "Financing constraints, fixed capital and R&D investment decisions of Belgian firms" by M. Cincera, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 33. "Investment, R&D and liquidity constraints: a corporate governance approach to the Belgian evidence" by P. Van Cayseele, *Research series*, May 2002.
- 34. "On the Origins of the Franco-German EMU Controversies" by I. Maes, *Research series*, July 2002.
- 35. "An estimated dynamic stochastic general equilibrium model of the Euro Area", by F. Smets and R. Wouters, *Research series*, October 2002.
- 36. "The labour market and fiscal impact of labour tax reductions: The case of reduction of employers' social security contributions under a wage norm regime with automatic price indexing of wages", by K. Burggraeve and Ph. Du Caju, *Research series*, March 2003.
- 37. "Scope of asymmetries in the Euro Area", by S. Ide and Ph. Moës, *Document series*, March 2003.
- 38. "De autonijverheid in België: Het belang van het toeleveringsnetwerk rond de assemblage van personenauto's", by F. Coppens and G. van Gastel, *Document series*, June 2003.
- 39. "La consommation privée en Belgique", by B. Eugène, Ph. Jeanfils and B. Robert, *Document series*, June 2003.
- 40. "The process of European monetary integration: a comparison of the Belgian and Italian approaches", by I. Maes and L. Quaglia, *Research series*, August 2003.

- 41. "Stock market valuation in the United States", by P. Bisciari, A. Durré and A. Nyssens, *Document series*, November 2003.
- 42. "Modeling the Term Structure of Interest Rates: Where Do We Stand?", by K. Maes, *Research series*, February 2004.
- 43. "Interbank Exposures: An Empirical Examination of Systemic Risk in the Belgian Banking System", by H. Degryse and G. Nguyen, *Research series*, March 2004.
- 44. "How Frequently do Prices change? Evidence Based on the Micro Data Underlying the Belgian CPI", by L. Aucremanne and E. Dhyne, *Research series*, April 2004.
- 45. "Firm's investment decisions in reponse to demand and price uncertainty", by C. Fuss and Ph. Vermeulen, *Research series*, April 2004.
- 46. "SMEs and Bank Lending Relationships: the Impact of Mergers", by H. Degryse, N. Masschelein and J. Mitchell, *Research series*, May 2004.
- 47. "The Determinants of Pass-Through of Market Conditions to Bank Retail Interest Rates in Belgium", by F. De Graeve, O. De Jonghe and R. Vander Vennet, *Research series*, May 2004.
- 48. "Sectoral vs. country diversification benefits and downside risk", by M. Emiris, *Research* series, May 2004.
- 49. "How does liquidity react to stress periods in a limit order market?", by H. Beltran, A. Durré and P. Giot, *Research series*, May 2004.
- 50. "Financial consolidation and liquidity: prudential regulation and/or competition policy?", by P. Van Cayseele, *Research series*, May 2004.
- 51. "Basel II and Operational Risk: Implications for risk measurement and management in the financial sector", by A. Chapelle, Y. Crama, G. Hübner and J.-P. Peters, *Research series*, May 2004.
- 52. "The Efficiency and Stability of Banks and Markets", by F. Allen, Research series, May 2004.
- 53. "Does Financial Liberalization Spur Growth?" by G. Bekaert, C.R. Harvey and C. Lundblad, *Research series*, May 2004.